
Adult Commissioning Committee  
 

Dear Member, 
 

You are invited to attend the meeting of the Adult Commissioning Committee to be 
held as follows for the transaction of the business indicated. 
Tom Stannard 

Chief Executive  

 
DATE: Wednesday, 12 January 2022 

 
TIME:  2.00 pm 

 
VENUE: Microsoft Teams Meeting 

 
In accordance with ‘The Openness of Local Government Bodies Regulations 
2014,’ the press and public have the right to film, video, photograph or record 

this meeting.  
 

AGENDA 

 
1   Apologies for Absence  

 

 

2   Declarations of Interest  

 

 

3   Draft Minutes of the Meeting Held on 10th November 2021  

 
(Pages 1 - 6) 

 ITEMS FOR INFORMATION  

 

 

4   Transformation Business Cases - Karen Proctor / Dr Tara 

Kearney  
 

The four full business cases are available upon request should 
members of the committee wish to see them. 
 

(Pages 7 - 24) 

 ITEMS FOR DECISION  

 

 

5   Learning Disability Strategy - Judd Skelton / Lyndsey Daly  

 
(Pages 25 - 58) 

 ITEMS FOR ASSURANCE  

 

 

6   Finance Report - Elaine Vermeulen  

 

(Pages 59 - 64) 

7   Scheduled Care Update - Annette Donegani  

 
(Pages 65 - 74) 

8   Cancer Care Update - Neil Cudby  

 
(Pages 75 - 86) 

9   Exclusion of Public  

 

 

 ITEMS FOR INFORMATION - PART 2 (CLOSED TO THE PUBLIC)   

Public Document Pack



 

 
10   Living Well Business Case - Judd Skelton  

 

The EIA & CIA Action Plan 21-23 excel spreadsheet is to be 
circulated separately. 

 

(Pages 87 - 172) 

 

Contact Officer:   
Carol Eddleston E-Mail: decisionmakingandscrutiny@salford.gov.uk 



 

Minutes of the Meeting of the Adults Commissioning Committee held 

via MS Teams on Wednesday 10th November 2021 

Meeting started at 14:00 
Meeting ended at 14:53 

Present 

Cllr Damian Bailey (DB)  Executive Support Member for Social Care & Mental Health 

Cllr Bill Hinds (BH)   Lead Member for Finance & Support Services – SCC 

Dr David McKelvey (DMcK) Neighbourhood Lead - CCG  

Cllr John Merry (JM)  Deputy City Mayor & Lead Member for Adult Social Care – Co-Chair 

Mrs Karen Proctor (KP)  Director of Commissioning – CCG 

Dr Tom Regan (TR)  Clinical Director for Commissioning - CCG  

Mr David Warhurst (DW)  Chief Finance Officer – CCG 

 

In Attendance 

Dr Muna Abdel Aziz (MAA) Director of Public Health – CCG / SCC 

Mr Neil Cudby (NC)  Assistant Director Commissioning - CCG 

Mr Harry Golby (HG)  Deputy Director of Commissioning – CCG 

Mrs Joanne Hardman (JH) Chief Finance Officer – SCC 

Dr Tara Kearney (TK)  NCA 

Ms Gillian Mclauchlan (GM) Deputy Director of Public Health – CCG/SCC 

Ms Zoe Morris (ZM)  Associate Director - Performance & Strategic Development - GMMH 

Ms Alison Page (AP)  Salford CVS 

Mr Judd Skelton (JS)  Assistant Director Integrated Commissioning – CCG/SCC 

Ms Fiona Smith (FS)  Risk and Assurance Manager - CCG 

Mr Paul Walsh (PW)  Assistant Director Integrated Commissioning – CCG/SCC 

Ms Carol Eddleston (CAE) Democratic Services – SCC (minutes) 

 

Apologies for Absence 

Mr Steve Dixon (SD)  Chief Accountable Officer – CCG 

Mr David Flinn (DF)  Neighbourhood Lead - CCG 

Cllr Tracy Kelly (TK)  Statutory Deputy City Mayor & Lead Member for Housing - SCC 

Ms Gillian Mclauchlan (GMc) Deputy Director of Public Health – CCG / SCC  

Ms Clare Mayo (CM) Integrated Commissioning Manager – CCG/SCC 

Dr Girish Patel (GP)  PCNS/SPCT 

Mrs Charlotte Ramsden (CR) Strategic Director People – SCC 

Dr Jeremy Tankel (JT)  Medical Director - CCG – Chair 

Dr Peter Turkington (PT)  NCA 
Ms Claire Vaughan (CV)  Director of Quality and Head of Medicines Optimisation – CCG 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



1. Apologies for Absence 

The apologies above were noted. The committee joined Councillor Merry in wishing Cllr Kelly, in her 

absence, sincere condolences on her recent bereavement. 

 

2. Declarations of Interest 

AP declared an interest in agenda item 8 as Chief Executive of Salford CVS. As the report was to be 

presented for information only it was not considered necessary for AP to leave at that point of the 

meeting. 

 

3. Draft Minutes of the Meeting Held on 13 th October 2021 

The minutes of the meeting held on 13th October 2021 were approved as a correct record. 

 

4. Strategic Annual Plan – Planning & Risk Update 

KP presented the update report on the latest position in relation to the strategic annual plan for 

Adults services and the risks associated with its delivery. The report also outlined the updated 

planning guidance from NHS England on operational  priorities for the six months up to 31st March 

2022. These were very much a continuation of the priorities outlined at the start of the year but with 

the addition of planning for winter. 

The scope of the annual plan was inevitably extremely wide and there was a huge amount of work 

taking place, with all actions currently on track. KP said she would be happy to respond to specific 

questions outside of the meeting and/or provide more detail on matters of particular interest in the 

next Adult Commissioning Report if requested. 

The Adults Commissioning Committee noted the contents of the report and supporting appendices 

for information and assurance. Members were asked to raise any particular questions with KP, 

copying in the chair, outside of the meeting. 

 

5. Mental Health Update 

JS provided a comprehensive update on the Adult mental health provision, Living Well programme 

and suicide prevention work. 

He drew members’ attention to the following highlights and responded to questions and 
observations: 

 Improving Access to Psychological Therapies GM targets 

o Prevalence was good and currently the best in GM. 

o Waiting times were good. 

o Recovery was below target for a number of reasons but was artificially deflated due to the 

national system double counting Salford’s data rather than reporting continuous pathways 

between different step 2 and step 3 providers. 

o GMMH and Six Degrees working together on both IAPT and Living Well were able to look at 

the increasing complexity of presentations and how things could be done differently to meet 

these needs. Training was being delivered to practitioners on the impact of society opening 

up again in recognition of the fact some people were only now recognising the patterns they 

had got into during the pandemic such as not going out as much and drinking more alcohol.  

Page 2



o Eco-anxiety, particularly among the young, may result in more people presenting but one of 

the advantages of Living Well having launched during lockdown was that it had opened up 

opportunities for doing more things outdoors. Garden Needs in Broughton had been used to 

allow meetings with people in the locality. This also tied in neatly with the VCSE Green and 

Blue Social Prescribing. 

o The interrelationship between Wellbeing Matters and Living Well, and the role that VCSE 

organisations played was crucial. 

o SCVS had recently launched a Wellbeing Matters Community Asset Fund with a view to 

stepping up things that were open and available to receive people via various referral points 

including Living Well and primary care. 

o SCVS had recently employed a Green Space Development Worker who, in his first month in 

post, had visited and mapped 70 green space destinations. 

 Urgent Care Listening Lounge 

o Designed as an alternative to A&E this was due to open at Hollybank later in the month. The 

site would provide a welcoming, non-clinical, environment and was well served by public 

transport. It would be the only Listening Lounge in GM that was open 24/7. 

 Living Well 

o Designed to address the gap for people needing more support than primary care could offer 

but who did not meet the criteria for secondary care mental health services. 

o The pilot in Broughton had been going very well, with 335 people introduced to Living Well 

up to June 2021. 

o Informed by the pilot, a business case for city wide roll out was currently being developed.  

o Independent interim evaluation of the pilot up to June 2021 had been really positive, 

including demonstration of an excellent reach to BAME communities (26%) and a significant 

reliable improvement in recovery and quality of life (ReQoL) score (59%). 

o People who saw a deterioration in their ReQoL score would be stepped up if they met the 

Community Mental Health Team (CMHT) access criteria or continue to be supported by 

Living Well if they did not. 

 Suicide Prevention Work 

o Targeted training sessions had been held with front-line advice services (CAB, Welfare Rights 

and Debt Advice, Food Banks) to raise awareness of suicide prevention and identify sources 

of support. Work was underway to tailor a programme for care home and home care staff. 

o The Salford Bereavement Counselling pilot with Six Degrees Social Enterprise was going very 
well and a more detailed update would be provided in the next Adult Commissioning Report. 

The Adults Commissioning noted the contents of the report and commended the significant 

progress being made in a number of areas. 

 

6. Finance Report 

DW presented an in-year update in relation to the financial performance of the adults’ element of 
the Integrated Fund. 

At September 2021, the adults’ element of the Integrated Fund was currently forecasting to be 

overspent by £3.7m which was an improved position of £0.1m since the last report. At £3.7m, the 

Adult’s fund would be £0.6m overspent against the  planned deficit of £3.1m. 

The latest iteration of the GM plan, which was yet to go through GM and CCG Governing Body 

governance, seemed to suggest that there would be no need to reduce the Adults’ plan for the 

remainder of the year although there was still a need to try to reduce the forecast overspend of 
£0.6m in this financial year.   

Page 3



There was much planning work to be done ahead 2022/23, particularly in light of some inevitable 

exacerbations such as those identified in the Mental health update and ongoing aspirations in 

relation to the Real Living Wage. Next year’s allocation was not yet known but decisions, some 

possibly quite difficult, would have to be made before the start of the new financial year and it was 

hoped to have a ‘first cut’ of the range of the 2022/23 budget and pressures by the first week of 

December. 

JH echoed DW’s comments and the need to be able to understand the risks as soon as possible. She 

explained that the recently announced Spending Review had given some indication that existing 

Adult Social Care (ASC) grants would be baselined which provided some certainly over what had 

previously been short term funding. The ASC precept proposal would be 1% unless things changed 

when the provisional settlement was known (ideally in the first week in December, but likely to be 

later in the month). The government had headlined an increase around ASC funding with a small 

start but increasing in the following two years. 

The Adults Commissioning Committee noted the financial position for 2021/22 and the risks 

outlined in section four of the report. The committee acknowledged the challenging position for 

2022/23 but noted that the position in Salford was likely to be less challenging than in some 

localities which did not have the same level of integration. 

 

7. Adult Commissioning Report 

This month’s report included information on Mental Health Investment Standard Developments and 

the development of a Shared Single Service for Orthopaedics across the Northern Care Alliance 
(NCA). 

 Mental Health Investment Standard Developments – the Service and Finance Group had recently 

approved additional areas of investment as follows: 

o Start in Salford Waiting List Initiative £93,187 

o GMMH Adult Community Eating Disorders Covid Demand - Cost: £78, 361 

o Lingua GM, Mental Health informed Interpretation and Translation service - Cost: £10,000 

o Complex safeguarding - Cost: £15,000 

o Salford CVS Mental Health VCSE Grants - Cost: £50,000 

o Survivors Manchester Psychological Therapies for Male Survivors of sexual abuse and 

exploitation – Cost £57,000 

 NC provided an overview of the Development of a Single Shared Service for Orthopaedics Across 

NCA and responded to questions and observations from members: 

o Plans to develop a single leadership model to try to improve efficiencies and clinical 

management and to bring in a clinical accountability group for orthopaedics. 

o A lot of lower limb activity had already transferred to the Fairfield site for Salford patients 

but there were also plans to develop longer term options around the configuration of 

services and the potential for the elective hub to be at Fairfield General with some elective 

services provided at Salford Royal. 

o Commissioners on the Programme Board had highlighted the need for engagement with 

commissioners and patients about what impact the changes might have on those patients 

and what mitigations might need to be put in place. 

o The journey to Fairfield for patients from Salford was quite some distance and not easy via 

public transport. Some of the engagement that had already been carried out had highlighted 

this as an issue that needed to be addressed. 

Page 4



o Quality & efficiency of care and patient experience were clearly very important but it would 

be helpful to have more information about the social value, particularly the carbon impact  of 
people travelling distances for their care. 

The Adults Commissioning Committee noted the key and emerging areas of adult health and care 

commissioning and provision outlined above. The committee asked that a further update be 

presented in approximately three months to include an evaluation of the impact on Salford 

patients who were required to travel to Fairfield for their care. 

 

8. Strategic Development of the VCSE Sector through Engagement, Support & 

Influence and Promoting Volunteering 

AP declared an interest in this item as Chief Executive of Salford CVS. As the report was being 

presented for information only it was not considered necessary for AP to leave at that point of the 
meeting. 

PW explained that this item had been brought to committee for information ahead of its 

presentation at Procurement Board on 24th November for approval to award a contract for Strategic 

Development of the VCSE sector through engagement, support and influence and promoting 
volunteering in Salford.  

A light touch review had been undertaken on the current contracts with SCVS that delivered 

strategic development, infrastructure and training and development for local VCSE organisations and 

volunteering. The review concluded that a potential change of provider through competitive 

tendering or insourcing would be likely to have a negative impact on the efficiency of the delivery of 

the integration, capacity building and support of the local VCSE sector that was currently provided. 

The current provider overachieved in the delivery of all outcomes and KPIs as set in the service 

specification and maintaining the current contract funding levels would help to ensure 

organisational and sector viability, which was critical at a time that the Council continued to face 

financial challenges and make savings. The VCSE sector played an essential role supporting residents 
and played an important part in the local economy and COVID19 response. 

Members of the committee commended the extensive list of VCSE sector organisations in Salford 

which SCVS represented and it was agreed that the lead commissioner would be asked to provide 

committee members with some information about the views and opinions of VCSE organisations 
about the work of SCVS.  

The Adults Commissioning Committee noted the report and looked forward to receiving 

information as requested about the VCSE sector’s views on the provider. 

 

9. Any Other Business 

In the course of the discussion on item 7 above it was noted that Fairfield General had been able to 

be kept as a green site so sometimes had additional capacity which might account for shorter wait 

times for some elective pathways. However, the committee was reassured that cancer pathways 

were different and there were specific targets around two week wait, assessments and fast 

diagnostics. There was also a process for providers to undertake clinical prioritisation for patients 

who were on waiting lists and classed as urgent (P1 or P2) based on their condition or disease.  

 

10.  Date of Future Meetings 

 

 Wednesday 12 January 2022 at 14:00;  

Page 5



 Tuesday 01 February 2022 at 14:00;  

 Wednesday 09 March 2022 at 14:00. 

Page 6



 

   
 

 

    
    
    
     

NAME OF MEETING :    ADULT COMMISSIONING COMMITTEE 

DATE OF MEETING :   12TH JANUARY 2022  
AGENDA ITEM 4 - COMMUNITY, SOCIAL CARE AND INTERMEDIATE CARE 

SERVICES INVESTMENT CASES 
 
 
Item for: Decision/Assurance/Information (Please delete as appropriate) 
 

Report of: Salford Care Organisation 

Date of Paper: 12th January 2022 

In case of query, please contact: Diane Morrison, Salford Director of Finance 

Strategic Priorities:  
(Please tick as appropriate) 

Quality, Safety, Innovation and Research  

Adult Services Y 
Children’s and Maternity Services  

All Age Mental Health  
Primary Care  

Enabling Transformation Y 
Mayoral Priorities: 
(Please tick as appropriate) 

Tackling poverty and inequality  

Reducing Health Inequalities Y 
Skills and Education (A Learning City)  

Affordable Housing  
Transport and Digital Connectivity  

Tackling the Climate Change Emergency  

Vibrant Place and Spaces  
Creating an Economy for All  

Page 7

Agenda Item 4

https://www.salford.gov.uk/cmpriorities


 

   
 

 

    
    
    
     

Purpose of Paper:                                    

This paper aims to describe both current and planned transformation of services within the 

intermediate care tier including proposals for investment. There are four separate cases that 

are included within the scope of this summary document. 

 

The services and models in scope for transformation are:   

 

1. Community Transformation: Community based schemes tested and funded 

initially through GM transformation (2016/17 - 2019/20) and subsequently funded 

via the CCG (2020/21-2021/22). This includes the Urgent Response Team, 

Homesafe additional staffing capacity, the Housing Officer in the Integrated 

Discharge Team and community rehabilitation / neighbourhood therapy staff. 

2. Homefirst: Homefirst is the term adopted nationally to describe the vision and aim 

for people to be discharged from hospital to their own home as evidence indicates 

they will have better outcomes and independence is maximised.  The redesign aims 

to improve the patient pathway and discharge processes from admission to 

community reablement in order to reduce numbers of patients waiting in hospital to 

be discharged with an estimated reduction in requirements for 100 in-patient beds, 

and to maximise independence and reduce reliance on longer-term adult social care 

service support.  

3. Intermediate Care Unit: The new Intermediate Care Bedded Unit (The Bevan Unit) 

was opened in November 2021 providing a purpose-built facility with expertise 

integrated in one place to deliver intense rehabilitation and reablement so people 

can return to their home where possible, following the Homefirst model. The existing 

IMC units closed upon opening of the new facility. 

4. Independent Living Service: The Independent Living Services comprise a range 

of support to help people manage in their own homes and prevent deterioration or 

dependency on other services. It includes community occupational therapy (OT), 

Care on Call mobile warden service, Accessible Accommodation Service, 

Community Equipment Services, Disable Facilitates home adaptations  and the 

wheelchair service.  These are statutory functions delivered as part of Salford’s Adult 

Social Care contract. 

 

Further information 
 

How will this benefit the health and wellbeing of 
Salford residents, or the CCG or City Council? 

 
Improved access and outcomes for local 
people 
 

Page 8



 

   
 

 

    
    
    
     

How does this paper address health inequalities 
and promote inclusion? 

The people who will benefit will be those with 
additional and complex needs 

What risks may arise as a result of this paper 
and how will they be mitigated? 

No risk as this paper is seeking investment to 
secure an improved position for Salford 

Does this address any existing high risks facing 
the organisation and how does it reduce them? 

Yes – noted in the report relating to current 
service pressures 

Are there any possible conflicts of interest 
associated with this paper? 

No 

Will any current services or roles be affected by 
issues within this paper and what are they? 

No 

Note: Where appropriate, please ensure detail is provided. 

 
Document Development 
 

Has there been Public Engagement? No 

Has there been Clinical Engagement? Yes 

Has the impact on Salford socially, economically 
and environmentally been considered? Yes 

Has there been an analysis of any impacts on 
equality? Yes 

Has legal advice been obtained? No 

Has this been to any groups or committees for 
engagement, comments, or approval?  Yes, relating to CCG, NCA/SCO and SCC  

Note: Where relevant, please provide detail and ensure that it is clear how and when particular stakeholders were 
involved in this work, that there is clarity of what the key message/decision was, and whether amendments were 
requested about any part of the work.

Page 9



 

    

    
    
     

Community, Social Care and Intermediate Care Services – Investment Cases 
 

1.  Executive Summary 

   
 
Please refer to associated attached document. 
 

 
  

2. Recommendations 
 
2.1 The Adult Commissioning Committee is asked to: 
 

 Review and support the four planned investment cases ahead of formal governance decision 

at the Shadow Locality Board and CCG Governing Body. 

 Review and support the recommendation that the costs saved from the c losure of Heartly 

Green Intermediate Care Unit will be used to part fund the Bevan Intermediate Care Unit. 

 Review the further funding sources set out in the document and support the recommendations 

set out in table 6.2. 

 Review and support the recommendation that the balance of funding not yet identified of 

£190k will be expected to be realised through a review of reablement services and delivery 

of an effective service model at lower cost. 

 

 
 
Diane Morrison 
Salford Director of Finance 
Salford Care Organisation 

 
 

Page 10



1 
 

  

Northern Care Alliance 

Sa 

Sa 

Community, Social Care and 

Intermediate Care Services 
Investment Cases for Adult Commissioning Committee  

Page 11



2 
 

1.0 OVERVIEW 

1.1 This paper aims to describe both current and planned transformation of services within the 

intermediate care tier including proposals for investment. There are four separate cases that are 

included within the scope of this summary document. 

 

1.2 The services and models in scope for transformation are:   

 

1. Community Transformation: Community based schemes tested and funded initially through GM 

transformation (2016/17 - 2019/20) and subsequently funded via the CCG (2020/21-2021/22). This 

includes the Urgent Response Team, Homesafe additional staffing capacity, the Housing Officer in 

the Integrated Discharge Team and community rehabilitation / neighbourhood therapy staff. 

2. Homefirst: Homefirst is the term adopted nationally to describe the vision and aim for people to be 

discharged from hospital to their own home as evidence indicates they will have better outcomes 

and independence is maximised.  The redesign aims to improve the patient pathway and discharge 

processes from admission to community reablement in order to reduce numbers of patients waiting 

in hospital to be discharged with an estimated reduction in requirements for 100 in-patient beds, and 

to maximise independence and reduce reliance on longer-term adult social care service support.  

3. Intermediate Care Unit: The new Intermediate Care Bedded Unit (The Bevan Unit) was opened in 

November 2021 providing a purpose-built facility with expertise integrated in one place to deliver 

intense rehabilitation and reablement so people can return to their home where possible, following 

the Homefirst model. The existing IMC units closed upon opening of the new facility. 

4. Independent Living Service: The Independent Living Services comprise a range of support to help 

people manage in their own homes and prevent deterioration or dependency on other services. It 

includes community occupational therapy (OT), Care on Call mobile warden service, Accessible 

Accommodation Service, Community Equipment Services, Disable Facilitates home adaptations  

and the wheelchair service.  These are statutory functions delivered as part of Salford’s Adult Social 

Care contract. 

 

1.3 The overarching aims of the four business cases is to support the aims of the locality plan, adopting 

a strengths-based approach to build resilient people and communities with reduced dependency on 

in-patient care.  When required, care will be delivered at home or as close to home as possible in a 

cost-efficient and effective way.  The outcome of the proposed investment is to reduce demand for 

attendances at the emergency department, avoid admissions to 24-hour beds where possible, 

reduce long lengths of stay in 24-hour bedded units and to reduce long waiting times for reablement 

services. 

 

1.4 The total costs, additional costs and additional staff numbers proposed by the four cases is 

summarised in the table below. 
 

Total cost of 

service 
before 

proposed 
investment 

 
Additional 

staff for SCO 

Total 

proposed 
additional 

cost  

Additional 

pay cost 

Additional 

non-pay 
cost 

Total cost of 

service after 
proposed 

investment 

 
£000s 

 
WTE £000s £000s £000s £000s 

Community Transformation  2,516 
 

79.81 3,3001 3,145 155 5,816 

Homefirst 1,826 
 

73.5 2,915 2,753 162 4,741 

Bevan Intermediate Care Unit 6,827 
 

32.0 75 981 -906 6,902 

Independent Living Service 4,597 
 

27.5 1,270 1,022 248 5,867 

Total 15,766 
 

212.8 7,560 7,901 -341 23,326 
Note 1 : 66.8WTE staff and £2.9m of cost is already being incurred following a decision to invest in a 2-year test of change in Community 

Transformation taken in 2020. 

 

Page 12



3 
 

1.5 Current service staff numbers and the proposed investment cases is included in Appendix 1. 

 

 
2.0 COMMUNITY TRANSFORMATION 

 

2.1 The case for investment in Community Transformation is to continue to fund services already in 

place (£2,936k funded by a two-year test of change in 2020 and £2,516k of recurrent contracted 

funding) and to commit £364k of additional funding to fully establish all services described in the 

two-year test of change pilot that commenced in 2020.  Community Transformation comprises four 

service elements as follows: 

 

2.1.1 Urgent Response Team – requesting an additional investment of £1,568k (£135k above the 

2020 test of change funding to fully establish the team) 

The Salford Urgent Care Team was launched in May 2018 and funded through GM Transformation 

money as two years test of change for a new model of care.  The service offer was to respond within 

two hours of referral from GPs, Clinicians and North West Ambulance Service (NWAS).  The aim 

was to stabilise a person in their own home, avoiding a conveyance to hospital.  The team offer was 

to support a person for up to 72 hours in the community.     

 
The Urgent Care Team became the Urgent Response Team (URT) in 2020 when the service merged 

with the Rapid Response Team and a further two year’s test of change funding was agreed to March 

2022.  The merger enabled a fully co-ordinated responsive service to manage the demand and meet 

national requirements for a crisis community response service. 

 

2.1.2 Homesafe - requesting an additional investment of £982k (£56k above the 2020 test of 

change funding to fully establish the team) 

The operation of the Urgent Response Team and published national guidance demonstrate that 

there needs to be balanced support for people at home both as admission prevention and post-

discharge support.  It was agreed in 2020 to undertake a two-year test of an enhancement of the 

capacity of the Homesafe Team complimenting the ongoing test of change in the Urgent Response 

Team. 

 

The Homesafe Team delivers support on same day as discharge (four-hour response national 

standard), seven days a week 8am -10pm and offers a six week reablement programme.  

 

  

2.1.3 Neighbourhood Therapy - requesting an additional investment of £764k (£140k above the 

2020 test of change funding to fully establish the team) 

In 2017, a therapy-based transformation project commenced to improve the falls pathway. Changes 

to referral processes and pathway steps were implemented and prevention of falls was a focus which 

included Salford Community Leisure postural stability programme. The introduction of the pathway 

resulted in referrals increasing by 30%. All were considered appropriate referrals with previously 

unmet need being identified and with a benefit that future falls were likely to have been prevented.    

In January 2020 further test of change funding was agreed for therapy with the aim to start a new 

project to move the therapy offer from a central community rehabilitation team to a more dispersed 

model becoming part of the existing Integrated Neighbourhood Teams (made up of social work and 

district nursing) and to provide added capacity for rehabilitation providing greater opportunities for 

prevention, earlier intervention and holistic care planning. The plan to develop neighbourhood 

therapy teams has not progressed as planned as teams have been deployed flexibly to support the 

response to Covid.  The objective remains to develop an integrated neighbourhood team.   

Page 13



4 
 

 

2.1.4 Housing Officer – requesting an additional investment of £96k (£33k above the 2020 test of 

change to fully establish the team) 

The Housing Officer is a member of the Integrated Discharge Team and was implemented in 2018 

as part of a transformation test of timely housing support for people who would be at risk of delayed 

discharge due to housing issues.  The Housing Officer role is to resolve any housing issues during 

admission, so that discharge can be facilitated, which avoids potential discharge delays.  The test 

was extended in January 2020 to continue the Housing Officer to March 2022.  An additional 0.5wte 

post to provide support to patients in ED and EAU was funded by commissioners in January 2021.  

 

2.1.5  Affordability adjustment of -£110k 

 The maximum funding available for Community Transformation is £3.3m The investment case 

requires a final review to reduce costs by £110k to be within the funding envelope.  

 

3.0 HOMEFIRST 

 

3.1 The case for investment in Homefirst is to increase capacity to improve timeliness of discharge and 

to ensure adequate out-of-hospital capacity is available to support discharged patients in a 

community setting.  This is expected to facilitate earlier discharge for an estimated 100 patients at 

any one time i.e. a reduction in demand for 100 in-patients beds. The Homefirst case comprises four 

service elements as follows: 

 

3.1.1 Homefirst Acute Flow Team requesting investment of £526k to fully establish the team 

 

Included within this team are two new admission avoidance roles which will pro-actively identify 

patients from A&E who may be suitable for a community alternative to hospital.  For patients 

admitted to hospital, the Acute Flow Team works alongside patients, families and clinical colleagues 

during the acute phase of a hospital admission. Key requirements will be to communicate with family, 

obtain all relevant information and prepare processes to ensure rapid discharge once medically safe 

to discharge working closely with ward teams. The team will identify required assessments and 

embed discharge guidance and strengths-based culture.  

 

3.1.2 Community Multidisciplinary Team (MDT) requesting investment of £798k to fully establish 

the team 

 

This team will receive referrals for all patients with supported discharge needs once medically fit and 

discharge criteria are met. Those people with no ongoing need for hospitalisation, but who may 

benefit from additional support are referred by the acute flow team to the community MDT. On 

discharge home where possible, a timely assessment is undertaken to identify and assign the 

support required. It is anticipated that support may take the form of reablement and rehabilitation at 

home or in an IMC, or less commonly the services of Hospital at Home team .  The team will allocate 

the most appropriate professional to complete the assessment based on needs. This team will 

support discharge from hospital on the same day where possible or the day after where not and will 

undertake assessments in the community. 

 

3.1.3 Community reablement requesting investment of £1,187k to fully establish the team 

 

There are currently three services that support reablement programmes on a step-up or a step-down 

basis post-discharge, which are Homesafe (part of the Community Transformation programme); 

Intermediate Home Support Service (part of the Intermediate Care Service) and the Supported 

Discharge Team (to be incorporated as part of the Homefirst programme).  The proposal is to make 

Page 14



5 
 

additional investment in therapy staff to create a new reablement pathway using both new and 

existing resources differently to achieve improved outcomes.  Whilst this part of the investment is 

focussed on step-down services, a full redesign of reablement services will provide clearer and more 

effective step-up and step-down pathways. 

 
3.1.4 Hospital at Home requesting investment of £404k to fully establish the team 

 

This team will provide additional medical support to expanded existing teams including District 

Nurses, Home / Out-patient Parental Therapy (HOPT), Urgent Response Team and COPD 

Assessment and Support Team (CAST) to enable them to provide medical care at home for patients 

with a higher clinical acuity. It will provide an intravenous service for antibiotics, fluids and diuretics 

for people on integrated care pathways, and will build on the covid virtual wards to provide virtual, 

technology-assisted support for those with non-covid related illnesses.  

 
4.0 BEVAN INTERMEDIATE CARE UNIT requesting investment of £75k to fully establish the 

pharmacy support team and to fund additional maintenance costs 

 

4.1 National Audit Intermediate Care (NAIC) 2018 benchmarking data evidenced that Salford requires 

c. 61 beds to meet the expected demand per 100,000 populations for 24-hour intermediate care. 

The 60-bedded purpose-built Bevan Unit opened in November 2021 and replaced 59 intermediate 

care beds based in two facilities at Heartly Green and The Limes and a further 18 intermediate care 

beds at Barton Brook which although had closed earlier in the year as intermediate care beds were 

re-purposed for a period of time as discharge to assess / step down beds during surges of Covid.   

In addition, during surges of Covid, Heartly Green was used as a designated setting for Covid 

positive patients ready for discharge from hospital into 24-hour care which had the effect of reducing 

intermediate care capacity  

 

4.2 The original business case for the Bevan Unit targeted the closure of Barton Brook, The Limes and 

half of the Pendleton ward on the Salford Royal site which, at the time, was operating as a sub-acute 

ward. As the building of the new unit progressed the plans changed to close capacity at Barton 

Brook, The Limes and Heartly Green due to: 

 

4.2.1 The sale of the business at Heartly Green to new owners who were willing to close the intermediate 

care floor of the building.  This proposed change to use was led by the Salford Care Organisation 

with advice and support from Salford commissioners.  This change allowed all intermediate care 

services to operate from the Bevan Unit. 

 

4.2.2 Emergency admissions to Salford Royal remain at similar levels to the same period in 2019/20 but 

with a change (increase) in acuity meaning that all wards at Salford Royal are operating as full acute 

wards including Pendleton i.e. this ward is no longer a sub-acute ward that can be closed and 

patients transferred to an intermediate care unit. 

 

5.0 INDEPENDENT LIVING SERVICES 

 

5.1 The Independent Living Services (ILS) operates across five service domains each of which has 

experienced increased demand during the last five years. The Independent Living Services 

comprises four service elements as follows: 

  

Page 15



6 
 

 

5.1.1 Community Occupational Therapy requesting an additional investment of £458k to provide a 

service that is aligned to demand 

 

 The aims of the Community Occupational Therapy Service are to: 

 To enable people with a disability to live as independently as possible by giving advice on 

available options, support for people with physical disabilities and their carer and, if 

appropriate the provision of adaptations to their home. 

 To undertake a full assessment to identify the needs of people with physical disabilities as 

well as those of their carers and family 

 To provide the most appropriate solution to people’s needs by taking into account individual 

circumstances, available resources and clearly defined eligibility criteria. 

 

Demand is increasing for community occupational therapy services as is reported acuity of 

needs where a point prevalence audit between July and September highlighted 22% of 

service users require four or more visits to complete their occupational therapy intervention 

compared to the expected average of three visits.  Increased demand and increased acuity 

with unchanged capacity means waiting times continue to rise and are now at over 70 weeks 

for assessment. The proposed investment is an increase in occupational therapists and 

community assessment officers. 

Referrals to the Occupational Therapy service have historically been to assess when a 

person needs support managing long term conditions at home, when a person has 

completed rehabilitation, or when they need specialist equipment or adaptations.  However, 

increased investment in the service is proposed in conjunction with a review of the service 

specification to deliver a more proactive and responsive service where therapists are 

involved in earlier assessment and intervention optimising opportunities to support people to 

live independently e.g. through more timely utilisation of the Disabled Facilities Grant and 

reduced reliance on packages of care.  

 

 

5.1.2 Care on Call requesting an additional investment of £80k to provide a service that is aligned 

to demand 

Page 16



7 
 

 

The team provides 24-hours monitoring and an emergency response supporting individuals to 

remain in their own home.  In the last twelve-months the number of calls to the service has risen 

from c. 78,000 per year to c. 96,000 per year (with c. 56,000 calls per year five years ago) and an 

increase of one additional warden overnight seven days per week is recommended to ensure timely 

response to call-out. 

 

This service development is supported by a planned upgrade to the Care on Call system from 

analogue to digital platform which has been approved by and funded by the Salford Care 

Organisation.  

 

5.1.3 Accessible Accommodation Service.  An additional investment of £294k to provide a service 

that is aligned to demand has been approved by Salford City Council 

  

The Council received annual funding as a Disabled Facilities Grant to deliver home adaptations for 

those people with disabilities who are eligible (c. £3.5m of grant funding available in 2021/22).  

Delays in occupational therapy assessments and growing waiting list for people eligible for 

adaptation work leads to a proposed investment in this team for occupational therapists, surveyors, 

customer liaison officer and administrative support to ensure timely assessment and delivery of 

home adaptations. 

  

 

5.1.4 Equipment Services requesting an additional investment of £438k to provide a service that 

is aligned to demand 

 

 The Equipment Services currently deliver around 20,000 pieces of equipment per year and collect 

15,000 pieces to clean and recycle where possible within Salford.  The equipment provided 

promotes an individual’s independence and allow them to remain in their own home.  The service 

aims to deliver essential items of equipment within one day of referral including weekends.  The 

proposed investment is split into two parts as follows: 

 

 Forecast increase in demand for equipment 

 The investment case forecasts increasing annual spend on equipment linked to increased cost of 

freight estimated at c. £80k.   

 

 Costs to manage and deliver equipment 

 The investment case includes funding substantive technicians, drivers and administrative staff to 

manage equipment demands (supply and returns) for both adults and children and young people. 

Whilst the key performance indicators of 95% delivery of equipment within one-day is currently being 

met, it is being achieved through temporary staff and overtime working.  The case also proposes 

continuing to use a private transport provider to facilitate seven-day deliveries and continuing to use 

a private supplier to support installation of hoists in private homes. 

 

6.0 FUNDING 

 

6.1 The investment case requests additional funding of £7,560k.  This sum assumes that the money 

saved from the closure of Heartly Green (£880k) can be used to fund the costs of the Bevan Unit.   

 

6.2 The following table sets out the proposed (identified) funding sources for the investment cases which 

leaves a shortfall of £976k. 

 

Page 17



8 
 

Case Description Estimated annual 
cost (£000s) 

Proposed (identified) funding source 

COMMUNITY TRANSFORMATION   
 

Urgent Response 1,569 
Salford CCG - £3,300k . Balance to fund - £0k 

The CCG has recurrent funding for the Community Transformation 
Business case. Homesafe 982 

Neighbourhood Therapy 764 

Housing Officer 95 

Affordability adjustment (110) 
 

Community Transformation total 3,300 
 

HOMEFIRST    
 

Acute Flow Team 526 
Salford Care Organisation - £2,915k. Balance to fund - £0k 

The SCO plans to close 3 in-patient wards as a result of implementing 
the Homefirst business case which will recurrently fund the cost of the 

Homefirst investment by 2023/24. 

Community MDT Hub 798 

Community reablement 1,187 

Hospital at Home – IV antibiotics 404 

 Homefirst Total 2,915 
 

BEVAN INTERMEDIATE CARE   
 

Bevan IMC 75 Salford Care Organisation - £75k.  Balance to fund - £0k. 
To be funded by the SCO assuming the application to HMRC to have 
the Bevan Unit zero rated for VAT is approved.  If approved the annual 
rent paid to SCC for the Bevan Unit will reduce by c. £80k as VAT will 

not be chargeable. 

INDEPENDENT LIVING SERVICE   
 

Community Occupational Therapy  458 Salford City Council - £294k.  Balance to fund £976k 
 

Care on Call 80 
 

Accessible Accommodation 294 Salford City Council 
SCC has confirmed £294k of Disabled Facilities Grant can be used 

recurrently to fund the Accessible Accommodation expansion.  

Equipment services 438 
 

Independent Living Total 1,270 
 

 

6.3 Further funding sources to close the gap of £976k are proposed below which add up to £786k leaving 

a residual gap of £190k.  

 
Recommended funding sources 

to reduce the £976k balance 

Description Amount 

£000s 

Salford CCG Ageing Well funding (recurrent) 500 

Salford City Council To continue to fund the cost of equipment for the Community Equipment 

Store (£80k increased cost forecast in Independent Living Services 

investment case) 

80 

Salford City Council To fund the cost of expanding the service to provide equipment and to 

receive back and reuse used equipment for the Children’s and Young 

Peoples Services 

37 

Salford Locality To continue to fund the cost of a 7-day equipment delivery service and 

private sector hoist installation (costs already being incurred by Adult 

Social Care services at SCO) 

169 

Total identified  786 

Remaining gap to fund the 

investment cases 

 190 

 

6.4 In section 3.1.3 above it is noted that there are currently three services that support reablement and 

that these services require both additional investment and redesign.  There is a commitment to 

ensure maximum value is delivered from the service redesign and it is possible that cost reduction 

opportunities will be identified which will provide a funding source for the balance of costs of these 

four business cases. 

 

Page 18



9 
 

 

7.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS AND KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 

 

7.1 The four business cases have been developed to support the aims of the locality plan, adopting a 

proactive and strengths-based approach to build resilient and independent people and communities 

with reduced dependency on hospital and long-term adult social care.  The expected benefits of the 

proposed investments are to reduce demand for attendance at the emergency department, to enable 

admission avoidance where possible, reduce long lengths of stay in hospital and other 24 hour 

bedded units and to reduce long waiting times for reablement services. 

 

7.2 Key performance indicators for the investments made would be developed and agreed through the 

implementation phase of each case and would be expected to include, as a minimum, the following 

measures: 

 

Draft key performance indicator Delivered through investment in: Indicative target or threshold 

(to be agreed during 

implementation) 

Reduction in demand for 

attendance at an Emergency 

Department 

 Community Transformation 

Urgent Response Team and 

Neighbourhood Therapy Team 

 Independent Living Services 

Estimated 2,700 attendances 

per year deflected from 

current 2020 investment in 

test of change.  Further 400 

attendances to be deflected 

with additional investment. 

Reduction in demand for in-

patient admissions 

 Community Transformation 

Urgent Response Team 

 Independent Living Services 

Estimated 2.600 in-patient bed 

days saved from current 2020 

investment in test of change.  

Further 700 in-patient bed 

days estimated to be saved 

through additional investment. 

Reduced length of stay in 

hospital 

 Community Transformation, 

Homesafe and Housing Officer 

 Homefirst investment 

Reduction in demand for 100 

in-patient beds 

Reduced length of stay in 

intermediate care  

 Bevan Unit To achieve and average 

length of stay of 21 days or 

fewer (pre-March 2020, 

average was 27 days) 

Timely access to Community 

Occupational Therapy 

 Independent Living Services To reduce the waiting time 

from current c. 70+ weeks to 6 

weeks 

Reduced demand for domiciliary 

care 

 Independent Living Services  % reduction in demand to be 

agreed e.g. 10% 

 

 

8.0 RECOMMENDATION 

 

8.1 Adult Commissioning Committee is asked to:  

8.1.1 Review and support the four planned transformation proposals. 

8.1.2 Review and support the recommendation that the costs saved from the closure of Heartly Green 

Intermediate Care Unit will be used to part fund the Bevan Intermediate Care Unit. 

8.1.3 Review the proposed funding sources set out in the table in section 6.2 and confirm support. 

8.1.4 Review the further funding sources set out in the table in section 6.3 and confirm support. 

Page 19



10 
 

8.1.5 Review and confirm that the balance of funding of £190k will be expected to be identified through 

a review of reablement services and delivery of a service model that meets user needs at a lower 

cost than current spend plus investment case spend. 

 

 

Appendix 1 

 

Current service Current WTE 
Current basic 

cost £000 
Additional new roles from 

business cases 
New WTE 

New basic 
cost £000  

 

COMMUNITY TRANSFORMATION            

Neighbourhood Therapy Team            

Advanced/Consultant Practitioner band 8a 0.6 35 Rehab Technician band 3 5.3 140  

Physiotherapy band 7 1.5 76        

Physiotherapy band 6 4.1 169        

Physiotherapy band 5 6.0 198        

Occupational Therapy band 7 0.8 40        

Occupational Therapy band 6 2.0 83        

Assistant Practitioner band 4 4.7 127        

Rehab Technician band 3 5.1 119        

Physiotherapy band 7 1.0 49        

Physiotherapy band 6 3.4 140        

Physiotherapy band 5 2.8 66        

Occupational Therapy band 7 0.9 49        

Occupational Therapy band 6 3.0 124        

Occupational Therapy band 5 1.0 33        

Assistant Practitioner band 3 5 137        

Non-pay   25        

             

             

Sub-total 41.9 1,472 Sub-total 5.3 140  

Homesafe            

Health Care Assistant 1.0 27 Nurse band 5 0.3 18  

Clinical Support Worker 5.2 157 Physiotherapy band 5 1.0 38  

Social Worker 1.0 39        

Nurse band 7 1.0 56         

Nurse band 6 2.0 94         

Nurse band 5 2.0 75         

Occupational Therapy band 7 1.0 56         

Occupational Therapy band 6 3.0 141         

Occupational Therapy band 5 2.0 38         

Physiotherapy band 7 1.0 56         

Physiotherapy band 6 1.0 94         

Physiotherapy band 5 1.6 60         

Healthcare Assistant band 4 2.0 62         

Healthcare Assistant band 2 5.0 127         

Non-pay   65         

Page 20



11 
 

Sub-total 28.8 1,148 Sub-total 1.3 56  

Urgent and Rapid Response            

Nurse band 7 1.0 60 Occupational Therapy band 6 1.0 47  

Nurse band 6 8.0 384 Physiotherapy band 6 1.6 74  

Nurse band 5 5.6 221 Physiotherapy band 5 2.8 106  

Occupational Therapy band 7 1.0 60 Assistant Practitioner band 4 1.5 46  

Occupational Therapy band 6 3.0 144 Administration band 3 -1.0 -27  

Occupational Therapy band 5 1.0 39        

Physiotherapy band 6 4.0 190        

Physiotherapy band 5 1.0 39        

Healthcare Assistant band 4 1.6 54        

Healthcare Assistant band 3 3.8 115        

Clinical Support Worker band 2 4.0 109        

Administration band 3 1.0 30        

Consultant / Advanced Practitioner band 8b 7.00 551        

Nurse band 6 3.96 162        

Nurse band 5 2.79 105        

Physiotherapy band 7 1.00 56        

Physiotherapy band 6 2.00 94        

Assistant Practitioner band 4 1.00 31        

Healthcare Assistant band 3 1.00 27        

Clinical Support Worker band 2 5.00 124        

Administration band 3 4.00 108        

Non-pay   65        

Sub-total 62.7 2,769   5.9 246  

Housing Officer            

Housing Officer 1 63   0.5 33  

Sub Total 1 63 
Community T2 affordability 
adjustment 

  -111  

TOTAL 133.8 5,452   13.0 364  

  

Page 21



12 
 

 

  
Current 

WTE 
Current basic 

cost £000 
Additional new roles 

New 
WTE 

New basic 
cost £000  

 

HOMEFIRST BUSINESS CASE            

Acute Coordination Hub            

Lead Nurse 1.0 57 None required      

Social Care Principal Manager  1.0 65        

Sub-total 2.0 122   - -  

Acute Flow Team            

Flow Facilitator 1.0 30 Admission Avoidance Nurse 2.8 161  

Family Liaison Co-ordinators 8.0 207 Assessment Flow Officers  11.0 371  

Carers Support Worker (VCSE) 0.5 - Therapist B7 1.0 55  

   Therapist B6 3.0 141  

   Regrade Family Liaison  - 70  

Sub-total 9.5 237   17.8 798  

Community MDT Hub            

Team Leader 1.0 51 Reablement Therapy Lead 2.0 94  

PPM Nurse (Patient Pathway Managers) 7.0 378 Provider Discharge Liaison 2.0 68  

Social Work Team Leader 1.0 57 Mental Health Practitioner 1.7 81  

Social Workers (various grades) 11.6 652 Social Workers  2.0 113  

Community Assessment Officer 1.6 63 Community Assessment Officer 1.5 58  

MCCN discharge team (Neuro) 2.0 94 Enhanced Service Manager 1.0 74  

Administrators 3.5 90 Health Improvement Officer 1.0 38  

      Community Navigator (VCSE) 1.0 -  

Sub-total 27.7 1,385   12.2 526  

Community Reablement            

   Physiotherapist Team Leader B8a  1.0 65  

      Occupational Therapist B6 3.0 141  

      Physiotherapist B6 3.0 141  

      Occupational Therapist B5 1.0 38  

      Physiotherapist B5 1.0 38  

      Assistant Practitioner B4 10.0 300  

      Therapy Assistants B3 7.0 182  

      Support Workers Band 2 12.0 282  

Sub-total - -   38.0 1,187  

Hospital at Home IV Therapy             

IV Specialist Nurse Band 7 0.8 44 Clinical Pharmacist  1.0  58  

IV Nurse Band 5 1.0 38 Nurses Band 5 3.5 139  

      Pharmacy Technician  1.0  30  

      2 Consultant PA's  15  

   Non-pay  162  

Sub-total 1.80 82   5.5 404  

TOTAL 41.0 1,826  73.5 2,915  

Page 22



13 
 

Current service 
Current 

WTE 

Current 
basic cost 

£000 

Additional new roles from business 
cases 

New WTE 
New basic 
cost £000  

 

INTERMEDIATE CARE            

Administration Band 2a, 3 & 5 3.0 63 Administration Band 2a, 3 & 5 - 15  

Domestics and other ancillary 5.3 130 Domestics and other ancillary (0.9) (34)  

Medical - 180 Medical - 3  

Nursing 59.1 2,040 Nursing 28.7 859  

Therapy 19.1 704 Therapy 1.7 106  

Pharmacy 2.0 68 Pharmacy 2.5 32  

Non-pay   3,641 Non-pay  (906)  

             

Sub Total 88.5 6,827   32.0 75  

Page 23



14 
 

 

Current service 
Current 

WTE 

Current 
basic 

cost 
£000 

Additional new roles from business 
cases 

New 
WTE 

New 
basic 

cost 
£000 

 

 

INDEPENDENT LIVING SERVICE            

OT for Waiting List           
 

      Occupational Therapists Band 6 4.0 198 
 

      Occupational Therapists Band 5 2.0 80 
 

Sub-total       6.0 278  

Proactive OT Team          
 

Team Leader Band 5a 1.0 54 Occupational Therapists Band 6 4.0 198 
 

Occupational Therapist Band 7 2.5 162 CAO Band 4 & 5 2.0 80 
 

Occupational Therapist Band 4b 1.4 65       
 

Occupational Therapist Band 6 12.1 597       
 

Occupational Therapist Band 5 1.0 31       
 

Social Care Support Worker Band 3a 5.8 201       
 

Technician Band 2b - 3a 6.0 168       
 

Labourer Band 1 0.5 13       
 

Sub-total 30.3 1,291   6.0 278  

Equipment Services           
 

U&E Care Hub Manager 1.0 57 Administrators Band 2 2.0 50 
 

Store Managers 2.0 70 Drivers Band 2 2.0 50 
 

Rehab Engineer (Paediatric Engineer) 1.0 28 Technicians Band 3 2.0 54 
 

Community Assessment Officer 1.0 35       
 

Equipment Wheelchair Support Workers 3.0 69       
 

Sub-total 8.0 259   6.0 154  

Accessible Accommodation          
 

Surveyor Band 5 1.0 40 Surveyors Band 5 2.0 80 
 

Surveyor Band 6 2.0 90 Surveyors Band 7 1.0 59 
 

      Community Liaison Officer Band 4 1.0 31 
 

      Administrator Band 2 1.0 24 
 

Sub-total 3.0 130   5.0 194  

Care on Call          
 

Assistant Manager Band 5 1.0 35 Wardens Band 3 3.0 80 
 

Control Centre Operator 1.0 27 Technician Band 4 1.0 26 
 

Wardens Band 3 27.0 736 Administration 0.5 11 
 

Sub-total 29.0 798   4.5 117  

Weekday additional capacity for deliveries and Gantry Hoists          
 

      Non-pay - A&D and Simply Moving   131 
 

Weekend Service          
 

      Non-pay - A&D   38 
 

Equipment Costs          
 

 Equipment costs   1,180  New equipment   80 
 

IHSS - Intermediate Home Support Service          
 

IHSS Team  11.0 406        

Domiciliary reablement services  533     

TOTAL 81.3 4,597   27.5 1,270 
 

 

Page 24



 

   
 

 

    
    
    
     

Adults Commissioning Committee 

DATE OF MEETING – 12 January 2022 
AGENDA ITEM NO & PAPER NAME: Salford Adult Social Care Learning Disability 

Strategy  
 
Item for: Decision/Assurance/Information (Please delete as appropriate) 

 

Report of: Lead Member for Adults Service, Health and 
Wellbeing 

Date of Paper: 11 November 2021 

In case of query, please 
contact: 

Lyndsey Daly – Integrated Commissioning 
Manager Learning Disabilities and Complex 

Needs 
Lyndsey.daly@salford.gov.uk  

Strategic Priorities:  

(Please tick as appropriate) 

Quality, Safety, Innovation and Research  

Adult Services x 

Children’s and Maternity Services  

All Age Mental Health  

Primary Care  

Enabling Transformation  

Mayoral Priorities: 

(Please tick as appropriate) 
Tackling poverty and inequality  

Reducing Health Inequalities x 

Skills and Education (A Learning City)  

Affordable Housing  

Transport and Digital Connectivity  

Tackling the Climate Change Emergency  

Vibrant Place and Spaces  

Creating an Economy for All  

Page 25

Agenda Item 5

mailto:Lyndsey.daly@salford.gov.uk
https://www.salford.gov.uk/cmpriorities


 

   
 

 

    
    
    
     

Purpose of Paper:                                    

 

To present for approval Salford Adult Social Care Learning Disability Strategy  
 

The report and attached strategy provide the Adults Commissioning Committee with 
our plans to implement a new Learning Disability 5-year strategy to set out our 

priorities and intentions to reduce health inequalities and improve quality of life for 
adults with learning disabilities.  
 
 

Further information 

How will this benefit the health and wellbeing 
of Salford residents, or the CCG or City 
Council? 

The strategy sets out our plans to improve 
adult social care services for Salford 

people with learning disabilities. Focus on 
reducing the health inequalities and 
improving their health and wellbeing.  

How does this paper address health 
inequalities and promote inclusion? 

None  

 
Everyone’s Responsibility – this strategy 

needs to be at the forefront of all practices, 
promotion of fair and inclusive services for 
all, improved access to services through 

the provision of reasonable adjustments, 
communication, and service provision.    

What risks may arise as a result of this paper 
and how will they be mitigated? 

Any risks pertaining to 

individuals/services/projects will be 
managed within risk management 

processes 

Does this address any existing high risks 

facing the organisation and how does it 
reduce them? 

Yes – the strategy sets out our 
commitment to improving services for 
people with learning disabilities, our 

commitment to shaping and creating 
flexible and dynamic support options.  

High risks include people who are in 

Page 26



 

   
 

 

    
    
    
     

inpatient settings under Transforming 

Care. 

Are there any possible conflicts of interest 
associated with this paper? 

N/A 

 

Will any current services or roles be affected 

by issues within this paper and what are 
they? 

 

None 

Note: Where appropriate, please ensure detail is provided. 
Document Development 

Has there been Public Engagement? 

Yes – ASC provider marker and service 

user engagement during 2020/2021.  
Included within the Learning Disability 
Strategy. 

Has there been Clinical Engagement? 

The strategy has been presented at 

Learning Disability and A Strategy Board, 
representative clinicians have coproduced 

and developed the content of the strategy. 

 
Has the impact on Salford socially, 

economically and environmentally been 
considered? 
 

Yes – Included in the Adult Social Care 
Learning Disability Strategy 

Has there been an analysis of any impacts 

on equality? 

Yes – Included in the Adult Social Care 

Learning Disability Strategy 

Has legal advice been obtained? N/A 

Has this been to any groups or committees 

for engagement, comments, or approval?  

Directorate Management Group 9 

December 2021 

Adult Service, Health and Wellbeing Lead 

Member Briefing 15 December 2021 

 
Note: Where relevant, please provide detail and ensure that it is clear how and when 

particular stakeholders were involved in this work, that there is clarity of what the key 
message/decision was, and whether amendments were requested about any part of the 
work.

Page 27



 

    

    
    
     

Salford Adult Social Care Learning Disability Strategy 

 
1.  Executive Summary 

   

 

This paper sets out our vision in the form of our new 5-year Learning Disability 
Strategy, which is to ensure that people with learning disabilities have equity, are 
valued members of their communities and are involved in shaping services.  

 
Members are asked to refer to the accompanying Salford Adult Social Care Learning 

Disability Strategy. 
 
 

“We need to have a voice and be in charge of our own lives.  We need services and 
the Government to listen to us too. 

 
We need to have good wellbeing.   Our families are important and so are our friends, 
we want to have relationships.   We need to have good support in our 

communities.   We need to be able to help each other and be part of our 
communities.  We need to be independent with the right support that works for 

us.   We need good health and social care; we need to encourage people with 
learning disabilities to think about their futures and help them to make their lives 
better. 

We need to be seen as and treated as equals by everybody else”. 
 
Sean Dempsey – Self Advocate 

 

 
 
7. Recommendations 

 

7.1 The Adult Commissioning Committee is asked to:  
 

 Review the content on the draft Learning Disability Strategy 

 Subject to any required changes or additions, approve the Learning Disability 

Strategy 
 
 

 
Name (Author) Lyndsey Daly 

Job Title: Integrated Commissioning Manager (LD/Complex Needs) 

 
 

Page 28



 

1 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Salford Learning Disability Strategy 2022 – 2027 

 

 

 

‘Everyone’s Responsibility’ 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 29



 

2 
 

Contents 

 

Introduction 

 

Our Foreword  
 

Acknowledgements  

 

Vision, Aims and objectives 

 

1. Why do we need a Learning Disability Strategy? (legislation, policy drivers) 

 

2. What do we know about people with a learning disability in Salford?  

 

3. Current support available in Salford 

 

4. Improving lives - our priorities  

 

5. Implementation, governance, and monitoring of the Strategy  

 

6. Appendices 

 

a. Include appendices as appropriate 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 30



 

3 
 

Foreword 
 

“We need to have a voice and be in charge of our own lives.  We need services and 

the Government to listen to us too. 

We need to have good wellbeing.   Our families are important and so are our friends, 

we want to have relationships.   We need to have good support in our 

communities.   We need to be able to help each other and be part of our 

communities.  We need to be independent with the right support that works for us.   We 

need good health and social care; we need to encourage people with learning 

disabilities to think about their futures and help them to make their lives better. 

We need to be seen as and treated as equals by everybody else”. 

Sean Dempsey – Salford Self Advocate 

Salford’s Integrated Learning Disability Strategy sets out our vision, which is to ensure 

that people with learning disabilities have equity, are valued members of their 
communities and are involved in shaping services.     
 

The Great Eight - This is our commitment to creating a ‘fairer, greener and healthier 

Salford’.  Driven by 8 key priorities to tackle the problems people are currently facing, 
for people with learning disabilities these challenges are more difficult, and our 

strategy places a heavy focus on this. 

1. Tackling poverty and inequality: 
2. Creating vibrant places and spaces 
3. Tackling the climate emergency 

4. Skills and education (A Learning City):  
5. Affordable housing and reducing homelessness:  

6. Promoting transport and digital connectivity:  
7. Creating an economy for all: 
8. Tackling health inequalities and providing the best possible care: 

The future 

Salford aims to be a city where people with learning disabilities have access to early, 

appropriate, and person-centred support that allows them to live good, meaningful 
lives.  People with learning disabilities should have access to all the same services 

and opportunities as anyone else; be that in accessing the health system or being 
supported to have relationships and employment.  To achieve this Salford will drive 
forward change that makes supporting people with learning disabilities ‘Everyone’s 

Responsibility’ and at the forefront of planning future services.  
 

There has been a great deal of focus on learning disability in recent years prompted 

by the “Six Lives” report and “Winterbourne View” scandal, which led to the 
Transforming Care Programme in 2012.  In October 2015 ‘Building the right support’  
was launched, giving a framework to develop more community services for people 

with learning disabilities. 
 

  

Page 31



 

4 
 

    

1. Making a contribution  

2. Person-centred, co-designed services  

3. Being safe  

4. Housing/homes  

5. Health & wellbeing  

6. Communication & advocacy  

 

These priorities are not dissimilar to those developed as part of a Greater Manchester 
Learning Disability Strategy. This plan aims to make sure people with learning 
disabilities have improved quality of life, are valued, and reduce the inequality faced 

by people with learning disability: including health, housing, employment, education, 
support, justice, and relationships.   

 
Thankfully, with advances in healthcare people with more profound disabilities now 
have a longer life expectancy, as well as our generally ageing population. Couple this 

with the direction of travel nationally to ensure that people are discharged from hospital 
to be supported in the least restrictive environment possible, ideally in local 

communities. This presents an increasing pressure on services; with learning disability 
being reported as the biggest area of demand faced in adult social care. Further 
preparation is needed to ensure community services are equipped to support this 

emerging group of people, and this presents challenges in developing services and 
the workforce to response to changes in levels of need. Salford has a long history of 

supporting a high proportion of people in the local community, there are cases where 
support is sourced outside of Salford which has resulted in out of area placements. 
We are committed to providing people with opportunities to access services and 

support locally and as part of this commitment we are reviewing out of area placements 
with a view to repatriating people back to Salford.  It remains as important as ever to 

continue supporting people to live in as independently as possible, for as long as 
possible, in the least restrictive way possible.  
 

This strategy has been produced in collaboration with people with learning disabilities, 
their families/carers, key partners, and professionals. It complements the Greater 

Manchester Learning Disability Strategy work that is being picked up as part of Greater 
Manchester Adult Social Care transformation. 
 

Sean Dempsey – Self Advocate 
City Mayor Paul Dennett 

Dr Tom Tasker Chair Salford Clinical Commissioning Group 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 32



 

5 
 

Acknowledgements 

 

This learning disability strategy has been developed and informed with participation 

from people with lived experience, who are members of the Listening to People Forum, 

Listening to Carers Forum and with representation from a wide range of partners to 

reflect the integrated approach to the strategy.  Although we refer to autism within the 

strategy, it is worth noting that the strategy specifically focusses on learning 

disabilities, aside to this strategy we have developed an autism action plan with a view 

to introducing a local autism strategy that ties into the Greater Manchester and 

National All Age Strategy.    

 

Introduction 
 

Learning disability has an impact on the way a person understands information, learns 
new things, and how they communicate throughout their lifetime.  A person with a 

learning disability can have problems learning new skills, understanding 
important/complex information and are often not as able to cope independently as a 

result. People with complex needs present with multiple factors which can relate to 
medical (e.g., diagnostic, therapeutic and rehabilitative) and social (e.g., housing, 
nutritional, interpersonal), it is important for learning disability services to be flexible 

and dynamic in meeting these complexities. 
 

As we refer to the term ‘Learning Disability’ throughout this strategy it is useful to define 
what is meant by this.  There are many different definitions of this, but the most widely 

used definitions are: 
 

“Learning disability includes the presence of a significantly reduced ability to 
understand new or complex information in learning new skills (impaired intelligence), 
with a reduced ability to cope independently (impaired social functioning), which 

started before adulthood, with a lasting effect on development’  
(Valuing People 2001, p. 14) 

 
The DSM-V (Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, 2013) definition 
of ‘Intellectual Disability’ refers to limited functioning in three areas: 

Social skills (e.g., communicating with others) 
Conceptual skills (e.g., reading and writing ability) 

Practical ability (e.g., clothing/bathing oneself) 
Source:  
 

http://www.dsm5.org/Documents/Intellectual%20Disability%20Fact%20Sheet.pdf) 
 

The International Classification of Diseases, 2010 (ICD-10) state the following, as a 
definition of learning disability: 
 

“…a condition of arrested or incomplete development of the mind, which is especially 
characterised by impairment of skills manifested during the developmental period, 

which contribute to the overall level of intelligence, i.e., cognitive, language, motor and 
social abilities.” 

Page 33

http://www.dsm5.org/Documents/Intellectual%20Disability%20Fact%20Sheet.pdf


 

6 
 

By definition, a learning disability will be present in childhood and should be diagnosed 
before the age of 18 years.  Children can experience problems in a school setting and 

will often need to access Special Educational Needs (SEN) services for assessment 
and support. The strategy aims for seamless transition from childhood into adulthood, 

working closely with colleagues in Children’s Services and partners to support people 
and their families as early as possible.  For transition to work effectively it must be a 
mutual partnership with the Peoples Directorate and health being jointly accountable.  

We have a duty to provide our people with the best care and support throughout 
periods of transition to adulthood and/or wider transition.  Our aim is to develop an 

understanding of our future adults and their needs, to support effective planning. 
 
People with learning disabilities are statistically at a higher risk of a number of 

associated conditions, which we refer to as co-morbid conditions: Autism, Epilepsy, 
Williams Syndrome, Downs Syndrome, Fragile X Syndome, Global Development 

Delay, Cerebral Palsy and Dementia.  There are also other aspects of health that we 
need to be aware of in prioritising the health of people with learning disabilities, such 
as heart and lung conditions which have been highlighted through the outcome of 

learning disability LeDeR reviews. 
 

Learning disability is a priority of both the Greater Manchester Health and Social Care 
Partnership and the NHS England’s Transforming Care Programme. The Greater 
Manchester Learning Disability Strategy (Plan) was developed in July 2018. The North 

West Training and Development Team (NWTDT)/Pathways Associates CIC lead the 
coproduction/development of this plan with people from across Greater Manchester.  

A range of meetings, events, conversations, and surveys took place with self-
advocates, families, commissioners, practitioners, and senior leaders all working 
together. 

 
Salford has contributed to the Greater Manchester work and are committed to 

delivering this, this strategy describes how our local priorities align and what actions 
we will take to achieve this. 
 

The strategy reflects statutory duties and national policy drivers as outlined in section 
two and has been informed by engagement from existing groups and forums, including 

the voice of those with lived experience or carers across Salford.  
 
Salford Listening to People members are an active group and representatives attend 

the Self-Advocates Conference each year.  Some members go on to be elected to 

represent Salford at other groups across Greater Manchester and the North West.  

This work is vital and maintains a Salford presence so that members of the group can 

feed in their views and shape regional work as well as influencing local policy/services. 

It is important to acknowledge all the work that these representatives undertake:  

 

 Our members have been voted on to the following groups which are part of the 

North West Co-Production network - where they feed in their views and the 

views of their peers, as well as feeding back to us what work is done at the 

groups. 

 Salford is also represented at the North West Regional Forum. This group 

meets 4 times a year (one of them being at the annual conference). 

Page 34



 

7 
 

 Two members are on the Being Safe Group. This group meets 4 times a year 

and it looks at things like relationships, community safety, Criminal Justice 

System, including people detained in Assessment and Treatment Units and 

discusses Care and Treatment Reviews. 

 One person represents Salford on the Living Well group, which meets 4 times 

a year and looks at things like housing, employment, transport, self-advocacy, 

training for workforce. 

 Both Greater Manchester and North West Confirm and Challenge groups are 

attended by Salford representatives too, these groups both meet 4 times a year 

each.  At the GM Confirm and Challenge, the group looks at one area of the 

Greater Manchester Learning Disability Strategy and what each local area is 

doing to achieve the aims.  The North West Confirm and Challenge acts as a 

‘helicopter group’ to keep an eye on what all the other groups are doing.  The 

group engages with NHSE on issues such as the new secure services following 

the closure of Merseycare Whalley and the NHS 10-year plan. 

 Salford also has representatives who attend the National Campaigns Group.  

This group looks at issues such as closure of Merseycare Whalley and location 

of new secure services, the planned crematorium at Calderstones Cemetery, 

A&E closure in Chorley, LeDeR recommendations, the ‘Whorlton Hall’4  case, 

national self-advocacy movement. 

 All this involvement is facilitated by our User Development Worker and is critical 

in ensuring that Salford has a voice/presence in any work developed. 

 

In addition to all this, the Listening to People group is a key partner in co-producing 

services and have contributed to the development of local services and pathways; 

always challenging the ‘bosses’ to make improvements so that people with learning 

disabilities can access provision that is meaningful and will make a positive difference.  

 

The Listening to Carers Forum are an active group of family carers self-advocates and 

advocates with a wealth of lived experience, who also assist in co-production of local 

services and pathways. With active participation at various forums, their voice is heard 

and most importantly listened to.  

  

We are looking to strengthen relationships with our learning disability community and 

throughout the duration of the strategy will introduce more engagement points.   

 

We will embed learning from the CQC ‘Home for Good’ report (September 2021) that 

celebrates successful community support for people who have previously been in 

hospital settings, all of whom are now thriving in the community across England, 

recognising that there is no single delivery model of care and support and a need for 

bespoke and person centred services, robust partnership working, appropriate 

housing solutions and safe and enabling environments, a greater understanding of 

challenging behaviour and the importance of family involvement as part of discharge 

and support planning.  

 

 

Page 35



 

8 
 

Our vision, aims and objectives  
 

Vision 
 

Our vision is that Salford is a city where people with learning disabilities and their 
families have access to early, appropriate, and person-centred support which they 
have co-designed and that allows them to live good, meaningful lives. People with 

learning disabilities should have access to all the same mainstream services and 
opportunities as anyone else; be that in accessing the health system or being 

supported to have happy, healthy relationships, employment opportunities and access 
to high quality and sustainable housing options.  
 

People will be given the opportunity to have their say through extended engagement 
and pro-active coproduction. 

 
Aims 
 

This strategy aims to reflect the needs and ambitions of people with learning 
disabilities and their families/carers across Salford.  

 
The strategy gives an overview of local and national policy drivers to inform the 
strategic priorities outlined in the plan and ensure that all partner agencies are aware 

of their statutory responsibilities.  
 

The strategy aims to shape the future market and workforce to enable us to 
commission services that effectively meet arising need. 
 

The strategy aims to incorporate issues that are faced by younger people with learning 
disabilities transitioning into adulthood, it also aims to support us in getting to know 

our future adults, their aspirations and needs so that we can effectively plan for an 
exciting future.  
 

Objectives 

 

Salford has 6 main objectives, which are in line with the Greater Manchester Learning 
Disability Strategy but reflect what local people view the priorities to be. 

 
Salford’s learning disability strategy objectives are as follows: 

 

 Objective One: Making a contribution 
Having friends/relationships, employment options/support, being part of the 

local community, having meaningful lives. 

 Objective Two: Person-centred  

Using person-centred planning and bespoke commissioning including early 

support and all-age services/transition. 

 Objective Three: Being safe  

Including how to keep yourself safe, positive risk taking and the justice 

system. 

Page 36



 

9 
 

 Objective Four: Housing/homes 

Improving both quality and choice of homes. 

 Objective Five: Health & wellbeing 

Taking care of your own health & wellbeing and reasonable adjustments to 

accessing mainstream health services/screening).  Consideration of transition 

within health services.  

 Objective Six: Communication & advocacy 

Receiving information that supports people to make their own choices, 
knowing your rights and ensuring people have the opportunity to have their 

say 
 
In addition to these priorities, there are targets around the Transforming Care 

programme; to reduce the number of people being supported in long-term inpatient 
beds and to support people in the community rather than in hospital.  This is important 

to us; we want to make sure that people stay safe and are connected with the place 
they call home. 
 

Salford is aligned to the 10 Greater Manchester Health and Social Care Partnership 
objectives, which are reflected in the 6 Salford objectives: 

Objective 1: 

Strategic 
Leadership  
 

 Strategic leadership to support reductions in inequalities, 

who will be responsible for working with self-advocates, 
families, and services to make change happen. 

 Co-production with self-advocates and their families. 

 

Objective 2: 
Advocacy 

 

 Support more people with a learning disability and their 

family/friends to have the confidence and skills to speak 
up for themselves and their peers. 

 To have an understanding of different types of advocacy 

and what is available to people. 
 

Objective 3: 

Bespoke 
Commissioning 
 

 Bespoke support and commissioning – designed with 

me, for me. 

 High quality, value for money, effective support options. 

Objective 4:  
Good Health 
 

 Consistent and quality annual health checks for 
everyone with a learning disability aged 14yrs+. 

 Learning Disability Mortality Reviews (LeDeR) carried 

out and findings used to improve services to positively 
impact on the health of people with a learning disability 

and prevent premature deaths. 

 Improve access to mainstream health services, including 

mental health services, developing reasonably adjusted 
health and social care pathways and services. 

 STOMP - reduce the use of anti-psychotropic 

medication. 

 Improve cancer services and experiences for people 

with learning disabilities and improve the uptake of the 
national cancer screening programmes. 

Page 37



 

10 
 

Objective 5: 
Belonging not 
Isolation 

 

 Ensuring that that those who wish to develop or maintain 
friendships/relationships are supported to do so. 

Objective 6:  
Homes for People 

 

 Improved housing options/choices for people. 

 Expansion of shared lives offer. 

 

Objective 7: 
Employment 

 

 Support for people with learning disabilities who wish to 
obtain paid employment, and support for employers to 

achieve this. 

 Focus on employment in transition 

 

Objective 8:  
It’s everyone’s job / 

Workforce 
 

 Ensuring that we have a skilled workforce, both within 
community teams, and services we commission. 

Objective 9:  
Early Support 

 

 Ensuring people are referred assessed and diagnosed 
early to ensure that the right support is put in place. 

 Ensuring the right support is put in place at the right time 
– listening to people and their families to shape this 

support. 

Objective 10: 
Justice System 

 

 Ensuring that offenders are treated fairly and are 
supported to not reoffend; and victims have a voice and 

support. 
 

In support of all these objectives, Salford aims to promote and influence mandatory 

training to the cross-sector workforce to embed a vision that places people with 

learning disabilities at the forefront of practice.   We will do so by linking with training 

and development/HR teams to incorporate tailored programmes for professionals.   

This needs to be ‘Everyone’s Responsibility’.  As a result, we envisage services to 

become more inclusive, with opportunities for our people much improved and as a 

result people can live healthier, happier, and longer lives.  

 

Principles 

 

Following engagement with our groups/forums, the following principles were 

developed to underpin the objectives.  These are the core principles that will inform 

our approach to deliver our objectives in Salford.  These have been reaffirmed in each 

of Salford’s commissioning strategies over the past decade. 

 

The things that are important to us are: 

 

 We want people to be able to achieve their goals and that in doing this, they 

are treated as equals who have rights but also have responsibilities. 

 We want to stand up for people, including people from minority ethnic groups, 

so that we can make sure people are not treated unfairly. 

 We think that all people should be treated equally and have the same rights; 

like getting a job, having a nice house to live in or having a relationship 

Page 38



 

11 
 

 We want people to be part of the community that they live in, relax in and work 

in, and for them to be able to contribute and help other members of their 

community. 

 We want people to be supported to do things for themselves – to learn new 

things, to be supported and encouraged to try new things and to take positive 

risks. 

 We want to make sure that work done by local councils, primary care, health 

and mental health services, and any other partner agencies includes the needs 

of people in this plan. 

 We want to make sure that we work in real partnership with people about 

decisions being made and services being designed. 

 We want people to have all the information they need so that they can make 

real choices. 

 We believe that people should have a voice and be listened to, by the people 

who work to support them and by the communities they live in. 

 We believe more people should be supported by general/mainstream services, 

with reasonable adjustments rather than specialist services. 

 We think that people should get the help they need when they need it, rather 

than just being given what’s available. 

 We believe everyone should be treated as individuals and with respect. 

 We believe people should be supported to maintain their own safety. 

 We think that everyone should be treated well and have good quality support. 

 
1. Why do we need a Strategy? 
 

This section gives an overview of legislation, national and regional policy drivers to 
outline the legal requirements and policy commitments that are in place to support 

carers. 
  
1.1 What do we know about learning disabilities locally? 

 

As the general population of Salford has been increasing the amount of people on the 

learning disability register has also risen by 298 people since 2015.  This is not 

proportionate to the increase of the population, so we see a slight decrease in the 

percentage of people on the LD register. 

 

Mencap reports that approximately 2.16% of the adult population will have a learning 
disability.  In Salford, this would be an estimated 5,366 people.  The Office of National 
Statistics (ONS), however, puts prevalence in Salford at approximately 3,956 with this 

being predicted to rise to approximately 4,273 in the next 10yrs.   Currently, 656 service 
users (adult social care) were recorded as having a primary support need of ‘learning 

disability’, in receipt of a package of care from adult social care.  This is in contrast to 
the 900 at moderate/sever that the ONS predict Salford would be providing care to.  The 
increase over the next 10yrs in this group is predicted to be approximately 9.3%. 

 
From this group of people 5.9% also have an Autism diagnosis. 58% are male, and 42% 

female, which partially reflects that prevalence is higher in the male population.  3.9% 

Page 39



 

12 
 

of the people known to Social Care Services are and 6.1% from other ethnicities.  This 
represents increasing diversity. 

 
86% of people supported  (adult social care) with a learning disability are under 65yrs 

old, which is a reflection of the health inequalities faced by this group of people.  Locally, 
the results of LeDeR reviews shows that the average age of death in Salford is 61yrs 
old (ranging from 36yrs to 73yrs).  This is slightly higher than the National average.  The 

main causes of death recorded are Pneumonia, Cancer and Dementia. 
 

45% (known to adult social care) of our adult learning disability population have an 
identified carer.  And 35% of those carers are aged over 65yrs, 9% of those are aged 
75-84yrs, and 3% are 85yrs+.  This adds increasing pressures to the adult social care 

system and as a system we try to record and manage the risks of potential carer 
breakdown via a risk register process; those cared for at home by aging carers will be 

part of this process.  Partnerships with Gaddum are well  established and offer direct 
support to carers and work with Salford partners to improve and develop provision.  In 
section 1.1  it is noted that NHS Digital collects data on weight of peole with learning 

disabilities and a significant proportion of this population are classed as being 
overweight.  LeDeR reviews highlighted an issue in this area, as there is a lack of 

suitable equipment for weighing people who are in a wheelchair 
 
Local figures on employment are also representative, but lower than national averages.  

Only 4.2-4.7% of people in Salford with learning disabilities are in paid employment. This 
is a priority for Salford and Greater Manchester, and a number of services will become 

available as a result. 
 
The number of people in out of area placements, such as specialist residential services 

and hospitals does fluctuate, but at the time of writing this there are 5 people  in a secure 
hospital, 4 people in CCG funded hospitals, and also some people in specialist 

residential placements.  As part of the plan to repatriate people back to Salford, an out 
of area project has been developed that will focus on 80 people currently placed outside 
of Salford with a view to creating housing and support solutions that will see them return 

to Salford. 
 

We know a lot about our people but recognise we need to know more, in the years 
ahead we want to further understand the needs of our people and coproduce and shape 
services that are reflective of these needs, that are accessible and importantly services 

that improve health and wellbeing and make a positive difference.  We will make a start 
by repatriating those who currently live out of area and look to provide supported 

environements in Salford.  
 
In support of this Salford is lucky to have actively involved groups of parent/carers and 

people with lived experience and these feed in to the strategic board.  This involvement 
is highly valued and supports our approach in codesigning services. 

 

People with learning disabilities experience health inequalities and these, are in part, 

caused by common co-morbid health conditions such as weight (under or overweight), 

respiratory problems, epilepsy, and dementia, but also by poor access to healthcare 

and mental health support.  A priority for Salford is to increase the numbers accessing 

Page 40



 

13 
 

annual health checks, pro-active work has seen a 22% increase in the last 12 months 

(May 2021).   Commissioners will work with health partners to regularly review data, 

analyse it, and inform changes, focussing on early intervention and prevention 

strategies.  

 

Strengthened relationships with Public Health teams will support existing and future 

commissioning activity with deployment of staff to tackle emerging needs and priority 

areas.  

 

The proportion of people with a learning disability receiving BMI checks has increased 

from 58.3% in 2016/17 to 61.5% 2017/18. Of those receiving BMI checks: 

 

 6.4% of patients with a recorded learning disability were classified as 

underweight (BMI ≤ 18.4), this was higher than for those with no recorded 

learning disability (4.9%) 

 37.5% of people with a learning disability were classified as obese, this was 

also greater than those without a learning disability (29.9%) 

(NHS Digital, 2019) 

 

Just over half of the LD registered population have their BMI recorded on Salford’s GP 

Systems; this is a 20% increase over the last 5yrs. The number of people has risen 

from 340 in 2015 to 660 people in 2019/2020.  It has been noted by GPs that they do 

not have the ability to weigh patients who are permanent wheelchair users, and this 

may have had some effect on the figures. 

 

 
 

Salford is committed to supporting GPs to be well equipped when undertaking health 

checks.  Working in close partnership the Health Improvement teams, partners and 

the provider market our strategy, will focus on reducing obesity.  

  

0

200

400

600

800

1000

1200

1400

LD Register

LD pts with a BMI

Page 41



 

14 
 

Nationally, 44.6% of people with a learning disability had the influenza immunisation, 

with a higher proportion of females than males receiving this and in the over 75’s 

83.2% did take this up.  (NHS Digital 2018)  

 

Work has been done locally to increase the amount of people with a Learning Disability 

who take up the flu vaccination.  People with a Learning Disability find it much more 

challenging than the general population to have needle vaccinations. Salford has 

developed a pathway to encourage people with LD to take up this immunisation via 

accessing reasonable adjustments, such as the nasal spray.  These efforts have seen 

an increase in the update of the flu vaccinations uptake of 61% as of March 2021. 

 

  

The amount of people with respiratory disease on the Learning Disability Register, in 

Salford, has increased by 28 people, from 134 in 2015 to 162 in 2020 and increase of 

0.49% Monthly GP data allows us to closely monitor the uptake of vaccinations and 

target practices individuals where take up is lower.  GP surgeries will have named 

nurses to keep track of registers and support people with health needs. 

 

It is important for us to continually review our health offer particularly focussing on 

prevention, immunisation programmes including that of HPV is rolled out in special 

schools, as with other vaccination programmes we will monitor uptake and ensure 

reasonable adjustments are in place where needed. Uptake of cervical cancer 

screening in adults with learning disabilities is low and therefore we will address this 

early on whilst supporting screening processes in later life.  We will work with Public 

Health to identify numbers of young people in receipt of the HPV vaccine which will 

act as an indicator for adulthood and identify those at most risk, we will ensure that 

health checks encompass cancer screening and ensure support is in place for people 

to access health appointments. 

 

Epilepsy is 25.2 times more prevalent in adults with a learning disability (NHS Digital 

2018) than the rest of the population, it is more common amongst men and in those 

with a higher level of impairment (McGrother et al. 2006; Epilepsy Society, 2019; 

Page 42



 

15 
 

Robertson et al., 2015). Estimates vary but in a review of 38 studies, the pooled 

estimate of prevalence of epilepsy in people with a learning disability was 22% 

(Robertson et al., 2015). 

 

Dementia rates are high in all people with a learning disability but is particularly high 

in people with Down Syndrome.  

 

In 2017/18, the prevalence rate for people with a learning disability aged 55-64 was: 

 4.3%, compared to 0.3% of those with no learning disability.  

For ages 65-74 it was: 

 5.9% for people with a learning disability compared to 1.1% for those without 

For those aged 75 and over: 

 11.2% for people with a learning disability compared to 8.7% for those without 

(NHS Digital, 2019). 

 

Salford’s Dementia strategy group has been established to reduce the periods 

between assessment, diagnosis, and treatment. 

 

Evidence suggests that mental health problems may be higher in people with a 

learning disability than in those without a learning disability. Some studies suggest the 

rate of mental health problems in people with a learning disability is double that of the 

general population (Cooper, 2007; Emerson & Hatton, 2007; NICE, 2016). The 

estimated prevalence of mental health disorders ranges from 15-52%, depending on 

the diagnostic criteria used (Cooper et al., 2007; Emerson & Hatton, 2007; Hatton et 

al. 2017; McCarron et al. 2017).   

 

In 2017/18 severe mental illness was 8.4 times more prevalent in patients with a 

learning disability than those without.  And 13.3% of patients with a learning disability 

had an active diagnosis of depression, compared to 12.2% in 2014/15 (NHS Digital, 

2019).   Forums need to engage with people, services need to reflect needs and 

individual wellbeing is a priority.   

 

The Confidential Inquiry into premature deaths of people with learning disabilities 

(CIPOLD) reviews identified the lack of reasonable adjustments provided to people 

with a learning disability (especially in accessing clinic appointments and 

investigations) as a contributory factor in a number of avoidable deaths (Heslop et al., 

2013). A lack of reasonable adjustments can be a barrier to accessing healthcare 

settings and to equal healthcare (Ali et al., 2013; Heslop et al., 2013). People with 

learning disabilities may need assistance with transport, communication, confidence, 

reading and many other issues that affect the attendance of appointments.  

Improvements can be made by ensuring that staff are trained and identifying that 

someone has a learning disability on appropriate systems. Work with HR and training 

and development teams will support this. Transport options, access and restrictions 

will be reviewed in direct consultation with people and via our governance and 

Page 43



 

16 
 

monitoring strategy, improving access, and affording greater opportunities. 

 

Healthcare professionals have a legal duty to provide reasonable adjustments for 

disabled people (Public Health England, 2016). This can include providing easy-read 

information, avoiding medical jargon or longer appointment times.   Future tenders and 

procurement processes will ask providers to outline how reasonable adjustments will 

be made throughout the delivery of the contract and specific questions will capture 

further detail, ensuring a consistent approach is adopted across the provider market. 

 

NHS Digital figures in 2017 showed that on average, the li fe expectancy of women 

with a learning disability is 18 years shorter than for women in the general population; 

and the life expectancy of men with a learning disability is 14 years shorter than for 

men in the general population.   

 

During 2019/20, the average age of death of those referred into Salford was 58 years 

old (Females 60 years and Males 57 years) and this is consistent with the National 

average (Overall 59 years, Females 59 years and Males 60 years). The disparity from 

the general population is therefore, 23 years for males and 23 years for females in 

Salford. The Learning Disability Strategy Board action plan places significant 

emphasis on reducing health inequalities. In comparison to the general population this 

is a relatively good position.  

 

National LeDeR also reported the median age of death for different levels of 

impairment: 

 

• 62 for people with a mild learning disability 

•   63 for people with a moderate learning disability 

•   57 for people with a severe learning disability 

•   40 for people with profound and multiple learning disabilities 

(University of Bristol Norah Fry Centre for Disability Studies, 2019) 

 

The National LeDeR Annual Report (2018) highlighted that a quarter (25%) of people 

from Black, Asian, and Minority Ethnic (BAME) groups had profound and multiple 

learning disabilities, which was twice the proportion (11%) of white British ethnicity. Of 

the 607 service users currently receiving a service in Salford, 595 have their ethnicity 

recorded and this represents 4% being within a BAME group in Salford, 100% of the 

LeDeR cases referred to date identified as White British. LeDeR information will be 

used to direct prevention measures, working with our engagement team we undertake 

more work with non-white communities. 

 

The chart below highlights the gender ratio of referrals to LeDeR in Salford: 

Page 44



 

17 
 

 
  

The last published National LeDeR Annual Report presents a similar picture with 6 out 

of 10 cases being male. 

 

It also appears that in Salford a large number of our Learning Disability population’s 

place of death is within acute trust setting rather than within their usual place of 

residence. This is an area identified for further focus by the LeDeR Steering Group. 

 

Data within the National LeDeR Annual Report (2019) suggests that the most 

significant cause of death for those with a learning Disability are from a respiratory 

type disease such as pneumonia.  Further work is needed to understand the reasons 

why, GP registration data will be used to directly target individuals at most risk. The 

table below outlines the cause of death (Part 1A of death certification) for all Salford 

reviews: 

 

Cause of death (Part 1A death 
certification) 

No. of individuals 

Pneumonia 4 (24% of all Salford’s cases) 

Renal Failure 1 

Community Acquired Pneumonia 1 

Hypoxic Brain Injury 1 

Cardiac Arrest 1 

Sepsis 1 

Hip wound infection and Osteomyelitis 1 

Biventricular Cardiac Failure 1 

Lung Cancer 1 

Respiratory Infection 1 

Epilepsy 1 

COVID-19 2 
 

Although individuals with a learning disability are more likely than the general 

population to have other conditions that increase their risk of respiratory infection, 

including epilepsy, this notable percentage has been identified as an area for further 

consideration. 

 

Page 45



 

18 
 

There are some key areas of health that are monitored for the purpose of improving 

the health of people with learning disabilities.  Nationally the NHS Digital (2019) figures 

reported are: 

 

 Annual health checks: 55.1% of patients with a learning disability received an 

annual health check in 2017-18, an increase from 49.7% in 2016/17.  (The use of 

pulse oximeters is being rolled out for use by providers) 

 Flu immunisation: Figures show a small increase for people with a learning 

disability receiving the flu immunisation, from 41.9% in 2016/17 to 44.9% in 

2017/18. 

 Cancer screening: In 2017/18, around half (52.5%) of women with a learning 

disability had been screened for breast cancer, compared to 68% of women 

without a learning disability. Less than a third (31.2%) of eligible women with a 

learning disability had received cervical smear tests, in contrast to 73.2% of 

women with no learning disability. And for those eligible for a colorectal cancer 

screening, 77.8% of people with a learning disability were screened, compared to 

83.7% of those without. 

 

People with learning disabilities are less likely to be in paid employment, with 6% of 

people with a learning disability (known to services) in paid employment (NHS Digital 

2018). As an employer and in partnership with the Salford 100 and cross sector 

partners the City Council will push forward supported employment objectives to create 

opportunities across Salford and supports people back into work.   

 

People with a learning disability have often had less opportunities to take part in social 

or leisure activities, and as a result often have fewer friends.  Stronger links need to 

be developed with Salford Community Leisure and culture services such as The 

Lowry, RHS Bridgewater where people can take part in meaningful activity, support 

health and wellbeing and build safe and supportive friendship groups.  This can lead 

to loneliness and social isolation, which can impact on overall health & wellbeing and 

contribute to poor quality of life (Gilmore & Cuskelly, 2014).  Our person led approach 

with greater choice and control will support improved quality of life. Social inclusion 

involves making meaningful connections and participation in fulfilling activities 

(Cummins and Lau 2003; Overmars-Marx et al., 2013). Research suggests that 1 in 3 

young people with a learning disability spend less than 1 hour outside their home on 

a typical Saturday (Mencap, 2019).  And in a survey by Sense, over half of disabled 

people reported feeling lonely, rising to over three quarters (77%) for those aged 18-

34 (Sense 2017).  This problem is amplified for those with more profound and multiple 

learning disabilities.   

 

The Alder report* describes how we might see the market change over the next few 

years, with increases in demand for learning disability services said to be anywhere 

between 14-64%. This would result in a significant increase in spend should significant 

Page 46



 

19 
 

transformation not take place.  The calculation for Greater Manchester was a 12% 

increase in spend for a scenario where localities ‘do nothing’ to change the way in 

which services are commissioned.  In a worst-case scenario it is likely to be more in 

line with a 45% increase in spend.  The best possible case scenario is said to be a 6% 

increase – where significant transformation is actioned.  This result proves that the 

region cannot continue to support people in the same way as it does now over the next 

5 years.  Priorities arising from this work, are to offer low level community support to 

enable people to be as independent as possible, for as long as possible.  And to 

support a higher percentage of people in the community as opposed to residential or 

hospital settings – something which Salford have continued to achieve for many years, 

with 94%+ of the people we support being in community placements.  Salford plans to 

continually address this by linking with adult social care and health improvement 

programmes. 

 

* NORTH WEST MARKET SUSTAINABILITY AND OVERSIGHT REVIEW on the 

Markets for Residential and Nursing Care Homes and Domiciliary Care for Older 

People and for Adults with a Learning Disability - 22nd December 2018. 

 

 

We are committed to continuously reviewing the effectiveness of our services, 

important data gives us a greater insight to health and is informative to help us make 

changes to our health offer to improve health and as such improve quality of life. 

 

Nationally, there are an estimated 

1.5million people with a learning 

disability 

 

Nationally, 2017/18 severe mental illness 

was 8.4 times more prevalent in 

patients with a learning disability than 
those without  

 

 

Over 1million of those identified 

require social care support with ranging 
needs from as little as 1 hour per week to 

24 hours a day 

People with learning disabilities are less 

likely to be in paid employment, with 

only 6% of people with a learning 

disability   

 

Nationally, 44.6% of people with a 

learning disability had the influenza 

immunisation, with a higher proportion of 

females than males receiving this and in 

the over 75’s 83.2% did take this up.  

(NHS Digital 2018) 

 

life expectancy of women with a learning 

disability is 18 years shorter than for 

women in the general population;  

 

Epilepsy is 25.2 times more prevalent in 

adults with a learning disability  
 

 

life expectancy of men with a learning 

disability is 14 years shorter than for 

men in the general population.   
 

Page 47



 

20 
 

 
1.2 Legislation and National Policy Drivers 

 

• Our Health, Our Care, Our Say (2005) 

• Mental Capacity Act (2005) 
• Putting People First: A Shared Vision and Commitment to the Transformation 

of Adult Social Care (2007) 
• Death by Indifference (2007) 

• Valuing People 
• Valuing People Now 

• Mansell Report (2007) 

• A Vision for Adult Social Care: Capable Communities and Active Citizens 
(2010) 

• Raising our Sights (2010) 
• All Together Now (2010) 

• Think Local Act Personal (2011) 

• Transforming Care (2012) 
• CIPOLD (2013) 

• Just Enough Support Principles 
• Care Act (2014) 

• LD Professional Senate (2015) 

• Building the Right support (2015) 
• Accessible Information Standards  

• LeDeR Learning Disabilities Mortality Review Programme (2015) 

• Mental Capacity (Amendment bill) (2019) 

• Liberty Protection Safeguards (2021) 
 

1.3 Regional Policy Drivers 

 

The Greater Manchester Commissioning for Reform Strategy sets out the key role 

commissioning will play in delivering our ambition for place-based, whole-system 

reform. To do this, we need to embed a new approach, one which ensures that our 

reform principles are drivers of our commissioning activity.  

 

The principles that underpin our approach to reform are: 

 

 Use of an Asset Based approach that recognises and builds on the strengths 

of people, families, and our communities rather than focusing on the deficits.  

 Flexible approach / response to support and prevent escalation. 

 Behaviour change in our communities that builds independence and supports 

residents to be in control  

 Integrated services that place people, families, communities at the heart  

 A stronger prioritisation of wellbeing, prevention, and early intervention  

 An evidence-based understanding of risk and impact to ensure the right 

intervention at the right time.  

 
 

 

Page 48



 

21 
 

1.4 Local Policy and Key Drivers 
 

Salford learning disability services are now delivered as part of local Integrated Care.  
Salford Care Organisation delivers contracts from a joint health & social care budget 

with the aim of meeting people’s needs more efficiently and effectively.  
 
Salford has long held an ambition for people with learning disabilities to live in an 

ordinary house, on an ordinary street, with their own front door, whilst being well 
connected, safe and secure.  People playing an active part in creating communities 

that are vibrant and welcoming. Supported Living is part of this vision. We also believe 
in people having ordinary lives, friends, and relationships. Providers of services we 
commission are vital in helping people to have the best chances, to be part of their 

local community and to be enabled to meet their potential and have as much choice, 
freedom, and independence as possible.  In line with Salford’s ‘Great Eight’ our aim is 

for people to maximise capabilities and be in control of their lives, ensuring people are 
digitally connected and can travel and access services and amenities.   
 

1.4.1 Salford Locality Plan: Start Well, Live Well, Age Well1 

 

The Locality Plan identifies bespoke support for people with learning disabilities as a 

priority in Salford. 

 

Early Detection, Preventative Management and Improved Care Coordination: Health 

Checks to identify risk factors for disease, encouraging uptake of national screening 

programmes to prevent cancer, diabetic eye disease and aortic aneurysms, 

introducing a “Salford Standard” for GP practices to ensure care is of a consistent 

delivery and quality of treatment for those with long term conditions, more integrated 

approaches to supporting people with multiple chronic conditions, including more 

ambulatory care delivered within neighbourhoods, bespoke support for people with 

learning disabilities and linking with the GM Specialised Services work.  The Locality 

Plan has a strong focus on addressing health/care inequalities, in support of this we 

intend for all GP practices to have a named learning disability nurse.  
 

1.4.2 Shaping Our City 0-25 Transformation Projects 

 

Shaping Our City projects creates closer working between Salford City Council and 

partners to support children, young people, and families. The aim is to ensure that 

children and young people achieve their potential.  

 
1.4.3 The Salford Standard 

 
The Salford Standard describes the level of care you should expect when you go to a 
GP practice in Salford. Launched from April 2016, and reviewed in 2020, the aim is to 

make it easier to see a GP and for everyone in Salford to get the same level of service 
and care whichever GP practice they go to.   

Learning disability comes under the Vulnerable Groups section of the Standard and 
Practices can assist in reducing health inequalities by improving uptake of annual 

                                                                 
1 http://www.salfordccg.nhs.uk/salford-locality-plan  

Page 49

http://www.salfordccg.nhs.uk/salford-locality-plan


 

22 
 

health checks (75%), reducing over-medication through the STOMP agenda, and 
ensuring appropriate medication for children (STAMP programme).   

 
The Salford Standard includes the following aims to improve the health of people with 

learning disabilities: 
 

 Increase the number of patients registered with learning disabilities and/or 

autism ensuring correct coding. 

 Increase the uptake and improve the quality of LD annual health checks (75% 

of LD registered patients); using the new Salford electronic LD health check 

form (for patients 14years+) and to provide a Health Action Plan where 

appropriate. 

 Improve cancer screening rates for people with LD/ASC. 

 Increase uptake of influenza vaccination for patients with LD. 

 Improve access for people with LD/ASC using reasonable adjustments 

 

Specific requirements for people with learning disabilities have been significantly 

reduced 2021/22 to support GPs to build back post Covid. The KPI of 75% uptake 

annual health checks will now be measured in the PCN Impact and Investment Fund.  

Although the indicators above will still be monitored throughout 2021/22, they will not 

be incentivised for this period (except for patients aged 14 years+ on the register to 

have a health check and provide a health action plan where appropriate). 

 
 

1.4.4 Neurodiversity Strategy 

 
The Neurodiversity strategy covers all children and young people aged up to 25 who 

have neurodevelopmental needs, and their families within Salford.  These may include 
and are not exclusive to; Autism, Attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD), 

Attention deficit disorder (ADD), learning disabilities, Tourette’s Syndrome, dyslexia, 
dyscalculia, epilepsy, Irelen’s Syndrome, sensory processing disorder (SPD), and 
Learning difficulties.  

 
We are committed to ensuring people are given the opportunity to access the right 

support at the right time in a way that is accessible to them.  Salford now has an Autism 
Partnership Board where we will look to coproduce services with autistic adults.  
 

 

2. Support for Salford people 

2.1 In Salford  

Salford has a well-established health and social care partnership.  Salford Community 

Learning Disability Team is a multi-disciplinary health and social care team delivered 

by Salford Care Organisation, part of the Northern Care Alliance.  The team lead by 

the Head of Service provides specialist assessment and therapeutic interventions and 

direct support to people in the community. Consultant and Clinical Psychiatrists 

provide specialisms in supporting complex needs.  The wider team consists of social 

Page 50



 

23 
 

workers, assessment officers, specialist nurses, physiotherapists, psychotherapists, 

speech and language and a team dedicated to transition. 

The team works with primary care and staff at the hospital to ensure that people are 

receiving the right care with reasonable adjustments where required.  The use of 

advocacy services, speaking to people with lived experience and inclusion of 

community partners helps to coproduce and improve services across the partnership, 

supporting strategy priorities with the aim to reduce health inequalities. 

 

Commissioned services have opened the market to providers including Aspire, 

Together Trust, United Response, Creative Support, Turning Point and Salford Cares 

to name a few.   Partnerships with voluntary, community and social enterprises help 

us meet the needs of the people we support, including specialist hospital, learning 

disability supported tenancy networks, care homes, residential services, to local 

supported living services, domiciliary care, shared lives, respite, and day opportunities. 

Personal budgets are also available for people to access in a variety of ways to 

increase choice and control over how your personal support needs are met.   

Five Primary Care Networks (PCN) have been established each with an identified 

clinical lead.  GP surgeries capture important information which helps us to support 

reasonable adjustments and ensures services are person centred, this also acts as a 

gateway to the annual health check, which includes medication review and 

introduction of health action plans.  Primary care is working with the community 

learning disability team to support the administering of the flu jab providing accessible 

clinics removing barriers.  This integrated approach supports the coordination of health 

programmes that improve accessibility and increase the uptake of vaccinations. 

 

Multidisciplinary teams will work together in each of the neighbourhoods to deliver 

enhanced care wrap around to support patients in the community, community mental 

health teams (GMMH) have operational partnerships with the community learning 

disability team working together and supporting people with multiple diagnosis.    

Community and primary health services form part of integrated practices and provide 

accessible services and promotion of a universal offer, such as dentists, opticians, and 

pharmacies.  

 

Salford’s approach embraces innovation, connecting sectors, practitioners, and 

communities to deliver multidisciplinary strength based, pro-active and preventative 

support. Over the coming two years Salford will build on what has shown impact, 

applying both local learning and national evidence. This will include strengthening 

neighbourhood health and care teams and introducing new ways of working together 

with primary care, the strong and vibrant VCSE sector and other partners such as 

housing and homecare.  A priority for Salford is centred around creating community 

led support that is values driven, focussed in achieving outcomes, empowering staff, 

and establishing true partnerships with people. 

2.2 Outside of Salford 

Page 51



 

24 
 

Partnerships are extended to providers and services supporting people outside of 

Salford.  In some cases, people have been unable to access the support they require 

in Salford and as such have had to move out of or access provision outside of the City.  

This is a main driver for us in shaping the future of services in Salford, we need to 

understand the market outside of Salford, the reasons and rationale for accessing 

such services and how we can integrate new partners to shift out of area services to 

become well established networks within the City.  

We are reviewing our provider market with a view to expanding and broadening the 

existing offer to afford more opportunity and improve accessibility for Salford people.    

Our intention is to effectively plan so that we can better respond to crisis whilst 

providing high quality services that keep people well connected to Salford, benefiting 

from existing support networks, access to services and family and friendship groups.  

Our first step will be exploring framework options tailored to the needs of Salford 

people.  

 

3 Improving support in Salford – Our Priorities 
  

As outlined earlier in this document, Salford has 6 main objectives, which are aligned 
to the Greater Manchester Learning Disability Strategy but reflect what Salford people 

view the priorities. 
 
Salford’s objectives are as follows: 
 

Objective  Actions 

Objective One: Making a contribution 

Having friends/relationships, 
employment options/support, being part 

of the local community, having 
meaningful lives. 
 

2 Contracts for commissioned services 

identify that people must be 
supported to develop and maintain 

relationships, be part of their local 
communities, achieve their ambitions 
and lead enjoyable fulfilling lives. 

3 Develop community led support 
4 Self-advocacy is encouraged and 

supported by forums, and a service 
to be developed in the future.  
Additional engagement points to be 

introduced. 
5 Dedicated supported employment 

function to work with local services, 
business, and partners to create 
supported employment opportunities 

and support people to maintain 
employment 

6 As an employer Salford will drive the 
change and offer supported 
employment opportunities within the 

Council and across partners 
organisations.   Working in close 

partnership with Salford 100 to 

Page 52



 

25 
 

develop opportunities for local 
people. 

7 Services and training/advice 

available to people to promote 
healthy relationships. 

8 Tackle digital poverty within the LD 
community. 

9 Promote reasonable adjustments to 

ensure fair access top community 
services. 

10 Reasonable adjustments to become 
a standard requirement of future 
commissioning activity 

11 Working with HR and training and 
development teams to introduce 

mandatory training. 
Objective Two: Person-centred  

Using person-centred planning and 

bespoke commissioning including early 
support and all-age services/transition. 
 

12 Commissioned services are co-
produced and the process of 

selecting a provider will involve 
people with learning disabilities and 
their family/carers. 

13 Increase opportunities for people 
with lived experience to contribute to 
service development and by doing so 

gain more insight into the needs of 
our people 

14 Person centred planning approaches 
are used by the CLDT, particularly as 
part of transition from children to 

adult services. 
15 Bespoke packages of support will be 

secured as required for individuals. 
16 Out of area project will focus on 

repatriation. 

17 Personal budgets/direct payments 
will be promoted, and people actively 

encouraged to identify how best their 
own needs can be supported. 

18 Commissioned support to apply 

Positive Behaviour approaches. 
Objective Three: Being safe  

Including how to keep yourself safe, 

positive risk taking and the justice 
system. 

 

19 Representation on North West and 
Greater Manchester groups, 

including Being Safe and National 
Campaigns. 

20 Information and advice provided by 
social media and forums. 

21 Work with partners in Criminal 

Justice system to ensure victims are 
supported, and support is provided to 

ensure that people are treated fairly. 

Page 53



 

26 
 

22 Commissioned providers must 
support people to understand safety 
in the home and community 

23 Safe travel to be promoted via travel 
training. 

24 Strengthen partnerships with sexual 
health services to provide early and 
ongoing education and give people 

informed choices that keep them 
safe and supported, whilst adopting 

happy and healthy relationships.  
Working to roll out appropriate forms 
of education without placing people 

at risk 
25 Training and support to be 

promoted/developed to help people 
to maintain their safety when online. 

26 Salford self-advocate trained as a 

Hate Crime Ambassador to share 
learning more widely (when it is safe 

to do so) with peers. 
27 Follow the work on local 3rd party 

Hate Crime reporting centres (which 

make it easier/less threatening for 
people to report a Hate Crime) and 

consider local actions. 
28 Promote the use of the True Vision 

easy read Hate Crime reporting pack 

locally. 
Objective Four: Housing/homes 

Improving both quality and choice of 

homes. 
 

29 Housing stock condition appraisal 
required on current service provision 

and longer term needs to support 
populations changing needs.  

30 Assistive technology within people’s 

homes gives people greater 
independence  

31 Technology enabled care becomes 
embedded within assessments and 
everyday practices 

32 Working with landlords to improve 
the quality of existing properties and 

replacing with new were appropriate 
to ensure commissioned services 
provide good quality homes. 

33 Housing options are carefully 
considered with the aim of creating 

vibrant communities 
34 Further housing development to 

meet identified needs and ensure 

Page 54



 

27 
 

people are supported in Salford 
where possible. 

35 Seeking out housing opportunities 

that give greater choice, well located, 
and offer aspirational living 

36 Quality control measures that ensure 
people live in homes of the highest 
standard 

37 Working with Housing Strategy, seek 
out opportunities to increase property 

options and create enabling 
environments. 

Objective Five: Health & wellbeing 

Taking care of your own health and 
wellbeing and reasonable adjustments 
to accessing mainstream health 

services/screening) 
 

38 Supporting people to take care of 

their own health and wellbeing by 
training, education, advice, and 
information through a variety of 

sources, including the annual big 
health day. 

39 Implement learning from LeDeR 
reviews to improve the local health 
offer to people. 

40 Support provided to primary care to 
assist with ensuring the accuracy of 
Learning Disability registers, 

improved access to health care, such 
as annual health checks, cancer 

screening and blood tests. Including 
the review of non-attendees. 

41 Appropriate education for people 

with learning disabilities to make 
informed choices about sexual 

health, promoting happy, healthy, 
and safe relationships 

42 Connect with drug and alcohol 

services and develop pathways of 
support 

43 Work with the Health Improvement 
team to tackle and reduce obesity. 

44 Supporting the increase in uptake of 

flu and covid vaccinations for people 
with a learning disability. 

45 Promotion of reasonable 
adjustments for people with Learning 
Disabilities to ensure equity of 

access to health services. 
46 Improved dental health and regular 

checks 
47 Introduce an electronic health check 

and action plan to assist GPs in 

Page 55



 

28 
 

delivering consistent and high-quali ty 
health checks. 

Objective Six: Communication & 

advocacy 

Receiving information that supports 
people to make their own choices, 

knowing your rights and ensuring 
people have the opportunity to have 

their say 
 

48 Use of forums, social media, and 

other routes to promote information 
and communicate information. 

49 Encouraging and supporting people 

to take part in regional forums. 
50 Commitment to supporting Salford 

Representatives to attend the annual 
self-advocate’s conference. 

51 Promoting the use of Total 

Communication in both 
commissioned and non-

commissioned services. 
 

 
4 Implementation, governance, and monitoring of the Strategy 

 

The development of the Learning Disability and Autism Strategy Implementation 

Board, formed in 2018, supports and monitors the delivery of this strategy.  Subject to 
confirmed changes to Greater Manchester Integrated Care System/Integrated Care 

Board.  High level governance to be confirmed. The board is made up of partners from 
all sectors and fits into governance structures as below: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
The forums feed into the board and information is shared back to the forums.   

 
The local Learning Disabilities Mortality Reviews (LeDeR) programme also reports into  
this board, but the LeDeR strategy group also has its own action plan; with the focus 

and priorities of this to tackle any issues arising from reviews and ensuring that 
improvements are made from recommendations.  These actions have a direct impact 

on improving the health of people with learning disabilities in Salford and reducing any 
health inequalities. 
 

GM LD & Autism Programme Board 

Salford LD & Autism 

Partnership Board 

Listening 

to People 

Autism 

Partnership 
Board 

Listening 

to Families 

Health 

Inequalities 

Strategy 
Group 

Page 56



 

29 
 

4.1 Taking Action  

 

This strategy describes the context and current landscape of learning disability 
services in Salford.  It also outlines our vision for the future and an action plan will be 

developed to assist us in keeping on track with delivering this plan for the City.  This 
strategy will enable us to set annual priorities, we will consider necessary Service and 
Finance groups for each of the identified priorities.  

 
Opportunities exist at local and Greater Manchester and national levels, which we aim 

to harness to make further advances.  Funding bids will be made, and hopefully, 
secured that will contribute to our overall aims in improving the lives of people with 
learning disabilities. 

 
4.2 On-going Engagement  

 

To ensure that this strategy is meaningful and makes a difference to local people, 
engagement with Salford forums/groups and key stakeholders, on the overarching 

action plan and priority areas of work, will continue throughout the lifetime of the 
strategy. Engagement will continue in a varied and flexible approach, offering local 

people choice about how they engage with the on-going work for carers.   
 
It is intended that the Learning Disability & Autism Strategy Implementation Group will 

identify and agree a suitable on-going engagement that ensures that the voice of 
people with lived experience is fed into the work we do to implement this strategy.  
 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 57



This page is intentionally left blank



 

   
 

 

    
    
    
     

Adults’ Commissioning Committee  

12th January 2022 
6. Finance Report  
 
Item for: Assurance 
 

Report of: Chief Finance Officer 

Date of Paper: 22nd December 2021 

In case of query, please contact: Elaine Vermeulen, Interim Chief Finance Officer 

Strategic Priorities:  
(Please tick as appropriate) 

Quality, Safety, Innovation and Research  

Adult Services 

Children’s and Maternity Services  

All Age Mental Health  
Primary Care  

Enabling Transformation  
Mayoral Priorities: 
(Please tick as appropriate) 

Tackling poverty and inequality  
Reducing Health Inequalities  

Skills and Education (A Learning City)  
Affordable Housing  

Transport and Digital Connectivity  
Tackling the Climate Change Emergency  

Vibrant Place and Spaces  
Creating an Economy for All  

Purpose of Paper:                                    

 
This paper provides the Adults’ Commissioning Committee with an update relating to the 
YTD financial performance and forecast and associated risks to the financial plan of the 
Adults Integrated Fund for 2021/22.  

Page 59

Agenda Item 6

https://www.salford.gov.uk/cmpriorities


 

   
 

 

    
    
    
     

Further information 

How will this benefit the health and wellbeing of 
Salford residents, or the CCG or City Council? 

Ensuring public funding is spent 
appropriately.  Achieving Value for Money, 
ensuring that funding is available to protect 
core services. 

How does this paper address health inequalities 
and promote inclusion? 

Financial and performance pressures 
associated with the adults’ integrated fund 
services. Through management of committed 
developments and holding providers to 
account for performance. 

What risks may arise as a result of this paper 
and how will they be mitigated? 

 

Does this address any existing high risks facing 
the organisation and how does it reduce them? 

 

Are there any possible conflicts of interest 
associated with this paper? 

N/A 

Will any current services or roles be affected by 
issues within this paper and what are they? 

N/A 

Note: Where appropriate, please ensure detail is provided. 

 
Document Development 

Has there been Public Engagement? N/A 

Has there been Clinical Engagement? N/A 

Has the impact on Salford socially, economically 
and environmentally been considered? 

N/A 

Has there been an analysis of any impacts on 
equality? N/A 

Has legal advice been obtained? N/A 

Has this been to any groups or committees for 
engagement, comments, or approval?  

Elements have been reviewed by the Service and 
Finance Group 

Note: Where relevant, please provide detail and ensure that it is clear how and when particular stakeholders were 
involved in this work, that there is clarity of what the key message/decision was, and whether amendments were 
requested about any part of the work.

Page 60



 

  

  
  
  
  

  
  
   

Finance Report 
 

1.  Executive Summary 
   
 
This finance report provides the Adults’ Commissioning Committee (ACC) with an in-year 
update in relation to the financial performance of the adults’ element of the Integrated Fund.  
 
At November 2021, the adults’ element of the Integrated Fund is currently forecasting to be 
overspent by £3.0m. The last report forecast an overspend of £3.7m, an improvement in the 
position by £0.7m.  
 
At £3.0m, the Adult’s fund would be £0.2m underspent against the planned deficit of £3.2m. 
 
Section 2 – Highlights the YTD and Forecast of the adults integrated fund up to November 

2021 with a projected £3.0m overspend for the year against a planned opening adults’ 
pressure of £3.2m. The main movements are summarised below.  
 

 (£0.2m) reduction in client and customer receipts pressure 
 (£0.2m) reduction in neuro rehab packages of care. 
 (£0.5m) reduction in CHC and FNC packages of care. 

 
These are offset by: 

 £0.2m increased costs relating to the mental health investment standard (MHIS) in 
committed developments 

 
Section 3 – Provides an update on the investment decisions made as part of the Adults’ 

plan for 2021/22. 
 
ACC is asked to note the financial position along with the requirement to deliver on the 
savings programme for the Adults’ Integrated Fund in 2021/22. 
 

 

 

2. Integrated Fund 2021/22 
 
2.1  This latest finance report provides the Adults’ Commissioning Committee (ACC) with 

the forecast position of the adults’ element of the Integrated Fund for the financial year 
(2021/22).  The appendices normally contain further detail, but it should be noted, due 
to the majority of contracts remaining on block for H1 and the same for H2 these 
appendices have been removed for this year as they provide detail on activity which is 
not currently being reported. This finance report is based on information up to the end 
of November 2021.  The Service and Finance Group (SFG) have scrutinised the 
position and agreed to the key messages. 

 
2.2 The forecast position for 2021/22 at November 2021 is an overspend of £3.0m, against 

a planned overspend of £3.2m for the adults’ integrated fund. There has been a £0.7m 
net favourable movement in the forecast since the last report due to an improvement 
of £0.2m in client income along with a net £0.5m decrease in expenditure, as shown 
in Table 1 below: 

Page 61



 

  

  
  
  
  

  
  
   

Table 1: 2021/22 Financial Summary 

 
2.2.1 Customer & Client Receipts - As part of regular monitoring of the income undertaken 

by local authority colleagues since the last report there has been a further favourable 
movement of £0.2m as client income has seen an increase since the last report. This 
is still viewed as the worst-case scenario and it is hoped further recovery will be seen 
over the remaining second half of the year. 

 
2.2.2 Acute Services (Non-ICO) – A high-cost neuro rehab package has ended since the 

last reported position resulting in a favourable movement in this position. 
 
2.2.3 Continuing Health Care & Funded Nursing Care – There has been a reduction in 

the number of care packages since the last report resulting in a favourable movement. 
 
2.2.4 Committed Developments – Due to further slippage in the CGG’s MHIS expenditure 

a further £0.2m of additional investment is required for the CCG to achieve its target. 
 
2.2.5 Adult Social Care (ASC) - Although ASC is forecast to breakeven the provider is 

projecting a £1.9m overspend by the end of 2021/22. Previously we have employed a 
50/50 risk share with the provider on overspends. However it has been agreed with 
SCO that commissioners will only contribute 50% to the opening risk of £1.3m and this 
has been transacted in the contract, so there is no further risk for commissioners in 
2021/22. 

 
 

Page 62



 

  

  
  
  
  

  
  
   

 
 
2.3 Mitigations –  

 

 The forecast on client income reduction is expected to be a worst-case 
scenario, and improvements are expected before the end of the year 
 

 There is likely to be further slippage on committed developments. 
 
2.4 These mitigations mean there is reasonable assurance that the opening deficit position 

of £3.2m for the adults’ fund is deliverable as funding levels have now been confirmed 
for H2 for Salford CCG. 

 
2.5 Based on the current assumptions and the available funding, the requirement to 

achieve financial balance within Adult’s remains a savings target in year of £3.2m 
recurrently to be achieved. 

     

3. Strategy and Investments 
 
3.1 An amount of £9.8m was set to be invested in 2021/22 within Adults’ services on new 

or enhanced services across several areas at the start of 2021/22, below is an update 
on the remaining investments at November 2021 as shown in table 3 below. 

 
3.2 Investments of £7.2m have already been transferred into new or enhanced services at 

November 2021. A further £1.9m is forecast to be transacted by the end of March 
2022. 

 
Table 3: Adults’ Investment Fund Summary 2021/22 
 

 

Page 63



 

  

  
  
  
  

  
  
   

 
3.3 Mental Health Investment Standard (MHIS) - Several schemes haven’t materialised 

and has resulted in slippage. However, in order for the standard to be achieved for the 
CCG to meet its target for 2021/22 further spend has been identified non-recurrently 
to utilise the slippage, any remaining slippage after achievement of the target has been 
utilised to offset the overall adults’ pressure for 2021/22. 

 
3.3 Mayoral Priorities – All adult social care (ASC) funding has now been passed to the 

provider for real living wage and pay inflation etc. The contingency of £0.6m has also 
been passed to the provider non-recurrently to mitigate any further pressure affecting 
the fund in 2021/22. Commissioners will review the pressure again in 2022/23 
planning. 

 
3.4 Other - Most of these investments are set to be transacted in H2 with slippage from H1 

utilised to offset the overall pressure with the adults’ fund for 2021/22. There is potential 
of some of these schemes slipping further in H2. 

 

4. Risks 
 
4.1 Recurrent underlying financial pressure on the fund and the impact that could have on 

the localities ability to deliver its strategic objectives. 
 
4.2 Increased financial pressures because of winter or a significant rise in the cases of 

COVID. 
 
4.3 The risk of the transition of statutory responsibility from CCGs to the Integrated Care 

System and any consequential revision of allocation methodologies. 
 

5. Recommendations 
 
5.1 The Adults’ Commissioning Committee (ACC) is asked to: 
 

 Note the financial position for 2021/22 

 The risks outlined in section 4 above. 
 
 
Elaine Vermeulen 
Interim Chief Financial Officer, Salford CCG 
 

Page 64



 

   
 

 

    
    
    
     

ADULT COMMISSIONING COMMITTEE 

12 JANUARY 2022 
AGENDA ITEM No: 7 

SCHEDULED CARE UPDATE REPORT 
 
Item for: Assurance/Information 
 

Report of: Annette Donegani 
Senior Service Improvement Manager – Scheduled 
Care and Cancer, Salford CCG 
 

Date of Paper: 16 December 2021 
 

In case of query, please contact: annette.donegani@nhs.net 
 

Strategic Priorities:  
(Please tick as appropriate) 

Quality, Safety, Innovation and Research  

Adult Services  
Children’s and Maternity Services  

All Age Mental Health  

Primary Care  
Enabling Transformation  

Mayoral Priorities: 
(Please tick as appropriate) 

Tackling poverty and inequality  
Reducing Health Inequalities  

Skills and Education (A Learning City)  
Affordable Housing  

Transport and Digital Connectivity  
Tackling the Climate Change Emergency  

Vibrant Place and Spaces  
Creating an Economy for All  

Purpose of Paper:                                    
 

The purpose of the paper is to update members of Adult Commissioning Committee on NHS 
work programmes relating to the recovery of Scheduled Care performance that continue to 
be impacted by the effects of the COVID-19 pandemic.    

 
Adult Commissioning Committee is asked to note the content of the report and comment as 
appropriate.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 

Page 65

Agenda Item 7

mailto:annette.donegani@nhs.net
https://www.salford.gov.uk/cmpriorities


 

   
 

 

    
    
    
     

Further information 

How will this benefit the health and wellbeing of 
Salford residents, or the CCG or City Council? 

Monitoring NHS provider’s performance 
against NHS constitutional standards ensures 
Salford GP registered residents receive a 
level of service they should expect to receive. 

How does this paper address health inequalities 
and promote inclusion? 

N/A 

What risks may arise as a result of this paper 
and how will they be mitigated? 

Long waiting times for non-urgent diagnostic 
tests and elective care are being experienced 
as a result of continuing high levels of COVID 
infections.  Mitigations include reviewing local 
and GM recovery plans with secondary care 
providers. 

Does this address any existing high risks facing 
the organisation and how does it reduce them? 

N/A 

Are there any possible conflicts of interest 
associated with this paper? 

N/A 

Will any current services or roles be affected by 
issues within this paper and what are they? 

No 

Note: Where appropriate, please ensure detail is provided. 

Document Development 

Has there been Public Engagement? N/A 

Has there been Clinical Engagement? N/A 

Has the impact on Salford socially, economically 
and environmentally been considered? 

N/A 

Has there been an analysis of any impacts on 
equality? 

N/A 

Has legal advice been obtained? N/A 

Has this been to any groups or committees for 
engagement, comments, or approval?  N/A 

Page 66



 

    

    
    
     

Scheduled Care Update Report 
 

1.  Executive Summary 

   
This paper provides an update on work programmes relating to the recovery of Scheduled Care 
following the outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic in March 2020.  It outlines the following: 
 

 current (October 2021) Elective Care and Diagnostic performance against NHS 
Constitutional Standards 

 local and GM actions to facilitate scheduled care restoration and recovery  

 the continuing impact of COVID-19 
  

Adult Commissioning Committee is asked to note the content of the report and comment as 
appropriate. 

 

2.  Introduction 
 
2.1 Scheduled Care refers to routine non-urgent care and includes the following standards and 

targets:  
 

 Waiting List for Incomplete Pathways  

Incomplete pathways represent those patients waiting for first treatment following referral to 
a consultant-led service. The waiting list target now requires Provider Trusts to stabilise 
waiting lists at, or better than, their September 2021 level. 
Diagnostics 

This standard ensures that less than 1% of patients are waiting no more than 6 weeks for 
one of the 15 key diagnostic tests and procedures. 

 18 Week Referral to Treatment (RTT) 

RTT is the length of time a patient waits from referral to starting treatment; the national target 
is that 92% of patients should wait no more than 18 weeks for their treatment to start. 

 52 Week Referral to Treatment (RTT) 

This standard ensures no-one waits more than 52 weeks from referral for their treatment to 
start. 
 

2.2 As reported in the previous Scheduled Care Update to the March 2021 Adult Commissioning 
Committee in response to the emergence of the COVID-19 pandemic all NHS non urgent 
care and diagnostic tests were completely stood down from the end of March to the beginning 
of July 2020. 

 
2.3 Non urgent care and diagnostic services resumed from July 2020. However, during the 

service stand down long waiting lists and waiting times built up. It has been difficult to 
eliminate these long diagnostic and treatment waiting times due to the impact of repeated 
COVID surges,  continuing high levels of hospital admissions, reduced hospital capacity (due 
to infection prevention controls and social distancing requirements) and higher staff absence.   

 
2.4 All non-urgent patients awaiting treatment are clinically reviewed in line with national non-

emergency priority criteria and where clinically indicated Consultants are calling patients for 
a discussion following which patients may be re-categorised as more urgent to be seen. 
Ongoing clinical prioritisation at Provider Trusts means low clinical priority patients are having 
to wait longer for their treatment. 

Page 67



 

    

    
    
     

2.4 National NHS performance standards for scheduled care and diagnostics remain in place.  
However due to prioritising the COVID response financial sanctions for constitutional 
breaches are suspended and performance against national standards is being used to 
benchmark and track performance against the NHS recovery requirements.  

 
2.5 The following sections of this report advise on: 
 

o waiting lists, GP referral, diagnostic and elective care waiting time performance. 
o actions taken locally and within GM to recover non-urgent waiting time performance. 
o the challenges presented by the surge in Omicron infections and the risks for the 

future restoration and recovery of routine elective care and diagnostic services. 
 

3. Waiting Lists  
 
3.1 The graph below shows the monthly and cumulative change in the waiting list for Salford 

CCG patients at all Provider Trusts which began to increase from May 2020 and continued 
to rise on a monthly basis until July 2021. 

 

 
 

3.2 The reduction in waiting lists from February to May 2020 was due to the reduction in referrals 
as a result of COVID, rather than an increase in the number of patients treated.  

 
3.3  Waiting lists increases from June 2020 onward reflects the increasing number of people 

attending GP practices and increasing GP referrals to secondary care but with reduced 
hospital capacity to treat patients.  

 
3.4 During August and September 2021, Salford CCG waiting list reduced by 2.7% (954) and the 

waiting list at the end of September 2021 was 34,155.  However, this had risen by the end of 
October to 35,422 an increase of 1,267 (3.7%). 

 
3.5 As per current NHS Planning Guidance the waiting list target now requires Provider Trusts to 

stabilise waiting lists at, or better than, their September 2021 level.   
 
3.6 The range of secondary care specialties experiencing sustained waiting list pressures 

continues to include Ear, Nose and Throat (ENT), Gynaecology, Gastroenterology, General 
Surgery, Urology and Trauma & Orthopaedics.  Referrals to these specialities are now at or 

Page 68



 

    

    
    
     

nearing pre COVID-19 levels whilst at the same time a rise in COVID-19 admissions, as well 
as workforce supply constraints due to staff needing to isolate, has reduced provider capacity 
which has resulted in increased and sustained waiting lists. 

 
4.         GP Referrals 

  
4.1 Pre-COVID Salford GP referrals to secondary care averaged around 4,100 per month.  The 

table below shows the number of referrals per month from 2019-20 (pre-COVID) to-date.  
 

Year  Apr May Jun Jul  Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar 
Tota l/ 

YTD 

2019-20 4,385 4,738 4,134 4,847 3,855 3,959 3,964 3,954 3,297 4,177 3,899 2,429 47,638 

2020-21 800 1,035 2,242 2,098 2,564 2,737 2,927 3,034 2,913 2,780 3,034 3,540 29,704 

2021-22 3,108 2,880 2,985 3,536 3,316 3,532 3,599      22,956 

% di ff 

(19-21) 
-29% -39% -28% -23% -14% -11% -8%       

 
4.2 In April 2020 GP referrals into secondary care reduced by 82% (from 4,385 to 800) when 

compared to the same period in the previous year. 
 
4.3 GP referrals have steadily increased since April 2020 and as of October 2021 are currently 

3,599 which represents 92% pre-COVID activity. 
 

4.4 Increasing GP referrals are a positive and encouraging indication of restoration and patient 
confidence however, there remains a risk to recovery if GP referrals increase up to or beyond 
pre-COVID levels as provider capacity constraints are still in place and therefore waiting lists 
and waiting times may grow further.  

 

5. Diagnostics  

 
5.1 The diagnostic standard ensures that less than 1% of patients are waiting no more than 6 

weeks for one of the 15 key diagnostic tests and procedures.   
 
5.2 Salford CCGs pre-pandemic diagnostic performance (March 2020) was 7.7% with 197 

patients waiting over 6 weeks to be seen; this rose to 52% (3,893) in August 2020.   
 
5.3 Salford CCGs diagnostic waiting times are given in the graphs on the following page.  The 

impact of COVID can be seen from April 2020 onwards. The first graph below shows: 
 

 A consistently improving position from August 2020 to April 2021 with recovery of over 26%  

 From May to August 2021 a deterioration of 12% (27.1% in May to 39.1% in August) 

 The lastest published data for October 2021 shows performance at 38% an improvement of 
1.1% on recent performance 

 
5.4 The second graph shows the total number of Salford CCG patients waiting for a diagnostic 

test. This significantly reduced from March 2020, returning to slightly above pre-pandemic 
levels in the summer of 2020 and remaining fairly static until February 2021.  

 
5.5 The number of Salford patients on a diagnostic waiting list increased from February this year 

to reach 8,985 in June.  This was followed by three months months at a static level averaging 

Page 69



 

    

    
    
     

8,800 per month.  Current data shows that for October 2021 there were 8,011 Salford patients 
on a diagnostic waitig list, an improvement of 9% (743 less patients) from the September 
position. 

 
 
5.6 The CCG’s main diagnostic pressure and challenge is routine Non-Obstetric Ultrasounds 

(NOUS). Of the 3,047 diagnostic breaches in October 2021, 46% (1,782) were for NOUS 
compared to 1.6% (13) in March 2020. 

 
5.7 The increase in routine NOUS waiting times is Greater Manchester (GM) wide.  However, 

following a GM NOUS Procurement two new providers (Yorkshire Health Solutions and 
Physiological Measurement Limited) started to see NOUS patients from the 1st October and 
it is anticipated this more streamlined community provision, working at scale, will aid NOUS 
recovery on both a GM and Salford locality basis in the second half of 2021/22 and beyond. 

 
5.8 Magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) performance has improved significantly since January 

2021 when 795 patients were waiting over 6 weeks to be seen.  In October 164 patients had 
waited longer than 6 weeks, an 80% improvement since January. The improvement in MRI 
waiting times has mostly been attributed to the ability of our main Provider (SRFT) to maintain 
activity levels and demand not yet reaching pre-pandemic levels. 

 
5.9 Provider Trusts continue to prioritise inpatient, cancer and planned surveillance imaging lists 

whilst at the same time are working hard to reduce backlogs and waiting times for routine 
outpatient activity.  However, staffing pressures continue in all diagnostic modalities due to 
staff sickness levels at all Provider Trusts as well as recruitment and retention challenges. 

 
5.10 These high levels of diagnostic breach volumes for non-urgent tests were expected due to 

the cancellation of routine examinations during the first wave of the pandemic and 
subsequent limited capacity and staff absence levels since restarting services.   It is expected 
that routine diagnostic waiting times, both locally and nationally will remain much longer 
during 2020/21 than they were previously.   

 

6. Referral to Treatment (RTT) Waiting Times  
 
6.1 Pausing non-urgent care and the reduction in available bed capacity due to COVID 

admissions and Infection Prevention and social distancing requirements has increased the 
length of time patients are waiting for non-urgent treatment to start. 

 

Page 70



 

    

    
    
     

6.2 Pre-pandemic (February 2020), 84% of Salford patients started treatment within 18 weeks of 
referral against the 92% target.  In August 2020 this had reduced to 52.6% 

 

6.3 The CCGs 18 week RTT performance has gradually improved from August 2020 onwards, 
plateauing between 65-67% from March to July this year. 

 
6.4 Over the past three months this position has fallen back by 3.6% and of the 35,422 Salford 

patients on a waiting list at the end of October, 61.7% (21,855) had been waiting less than 
18 weeks for their treatment to start against the 92% target.   

 
6.5 The table below gives the CCGs 18 week RTT performance during 2021 and shows a 9% 

improvement compared to the August 2020 performance.   
 

2020 2021 
Aug Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sept Oct 

52.6% 63.5% 62.8% 65.6% 65.5% 67.3% 67.0% 65.3% 63.7% 61.7% 61.7% 

 

6.6 The table below shows the number of Salford CCG patients waiting over 52 weeks each 
month since the beginning of the COVID-19 pandemic in April 2020. In October 2021, a total 
of 2,131 Salford CCG patients had been waiting over 52 weeks to be treated.  Of these 803 
patients had been waiting over 78 weeks to be seen and 124 waiting over 104 weeks. 

 

2020/21 2021/22 

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sept Oct 

44 154 304 494 712 874 1,016 1,203 1,363 2,147 2,646 2,823 2,508 2,269 2,033 1,968 2,066 2,129 2,131 

 

6.7 Salford CCG waiting list increases reflects the national picture with the number of patients 
waiting for NHS treatment currently at a record 6 million the highest since records began.  
The number of patients waiting over 78 weeks to be seen reduced by 85 in October but the 
number waiting over 104 weeks increased from 103 in September to 124 in October.  In 
summary, over 52 week waiting lists have stabilised over the past 3 months at between 2,000 
and 2,130, but long waiting times of over 104 weeks are increasing. 

 
6.8 All non-urgent patients awaiting treatment continue to be clinically reviewed in line with 

national non-emergency priority criteria and where clinically indicated Consultants are calling 
patients for a discussion following which patients may be re-categorised as more urgent to 
be seen.   

 

6.9 Waiting time pressures are being experienced by most specialties but are particularly acute 
for Trauma and Orthopaedics (T&O), General Surgery, Gastroenterology, Gynaecology, 
Urology and Ear, Nose and Throat services.  

 
6.10 Recently published NHS Operational and Planning Guidelines set out Scheduled Care 

recovery requirements for Provider Trusts for the remainder of 2021/22.  The overall aim is 
to return to, or exceed, pre-pandemic levels of activity across the second half of the year; to 
reduce long waits and prevent further lengthening of waiting lists, which are likely to be 
challenging for Provider Trusts to achieve. 

 
7.        NHS Planning Guidelines for the Second Half (H2) of 2021/22 

 
7.1 The list below summarises the main 2021/22 H2 planning guidelines for scheduled care:  

 Maximise elective activity, utilise Independent Sector capacity 

Page 71



 

    

    
    
     

 Eliminate 104 week waits by March 2022 except for those patients who wish to postpone 
surgery (categorised as P5 or P6 patients) 

 Hold, or where possible reduce, the number of patients waiting over 52 weeks 

 Stabilise the waiting lists around the level seen at the end September 2021  

 Engage fully in the national clinical validation and prioritisation programme  
 Continue to optimise referrals and avoid patients attending outpatient services 

unnecessarily 

 A minimum of 12 advice and guidance requests should be delivered per 100 outpatient 
first attendances, or equivalent via other triage approaches, by March 2022 

 Patient-initiated follow-up (PIFU) is in place for at least five major outpatient specialties, 
moving or discharging 1.5% of all outpatient attendances to PIFU pathways by 
December 2021, and 2% by March 2022 with month-on-month increases 

 Continue to grow remote outpatient attendances where clinically appropriate with an 
overall share of at least 25% 

 Continue to ensure health inequalities are considered within elective recovery plans 
 

7.2 The CCG will work with providers to deliver these targets, monitored through the joint CCG 
and SRFT Scheduled Care Delivery Board and regular updates and progress against them 
will be included in future Governing Body reports. 

 
8.       DIAGNOSTICS AND ELECTIVE CARE RECOVERY ACTIONS 

 
8.1 Listed below are a selection of system actions being taken to recover diagnostic and elective 

care capacity:   
 

a. Diagnostics 

 Waiting list initiative work continues together with a focus on reducing imaging backlogs, 
particularly longest waiting exams. 

 Implementing radiology recovery plans to manage the risk of long waits and to return to a 6 
week compliant position.  

 A mobile CT unit on the SRFT site provides additional capacity. 

 Independent Sector (IS) provision of CT service is in place.  
 The MRI department at SRFT has had a recent successful recruitment programme and 

continues to engage with IS providers to use IS MRI capacity delivered on site. 

 SRFT continues to secure additional endoscopy capacity for gastroscopies and 
colonoscopies through a combination of Waiting List Initiatives, insourcing, use of the GM 
modular Endoscopy unit and available IS provision.  

 Image reporting times remain good compared to pre-pandemic levels, but the backlog has 
increased. 

 The CCG continues to work with the Northern Care Alliance (NCA) on the development of a 
Tier 1 Community Diagnostic Hub in Salford. Mobilisation of any approved CDH for Salford 
will likely be in the 22/23 financial year. 

 
b. In-Patients and Day Cases 

 All theatres are in use and a Clinical Prioritisation Group reviews all cases going to theatre 
to ensure prioritisation based on clinical urgency to minimise the risk of clinical harm from 
extended waiting times. 

 The Greater Manchester (GM) collaborative approach for surgical recovery and prioritisation 
continues and ensures equity and effective use of Greater Manchester capacity for clinical 

Page 72



 

    

    
    
     

priorities.  Gynaecology, general surgery, ENT and Orthopaedics are priory specialties which 
have seen the greatest increase in waiting list size.  

 In addition to the GM collaborative GM Provider Trusts and Independent Hospitals in GM are 
working together and strengthening mutual aid to provide additional elective capacity for long 
waiters.   

 GM have developed a Waiting Well website (While You WaitWhile You Wait NHS | For Those 
Awaiting Treatment) to ensure support to and communication with patients on waiting lists by 

providing advice and information about self-help and links to local and national support 
groups.  CCGs are involved in providing local information to support the GM pack. 

 SRFT has increased elective in-patient and day case capacity through a range of measures 
such as improving theatre capacity, increasing endoscopy utilisation, and continuing 
involvement with GM collaborative mutual aid programmes for surgical recovery in priority 
areas such as gynaecology, general surgery, ENT and Orthopaedics which have seen the 
greatest increases in waiting list size. 

 Local out-patient recovery has been strong at SRFT since August of last year and new & 
follow-up out-patient activity (both face to face and virtual) continues to increase and are now 
in excess of pre-COVID levels. 

  
c. Out-patients 

 The Northern Care Alliance have established a Being Well Delivery Board to co-ordinate their 
implementation of recently published H2 planning guidance relating to outpatient recovery 
and transformation to urgently tackle the backlog of patients needing care.   Specifically, 
these requirements include: 

o A minimum of 12 advice and guidance (A&G) requests should be delivered per 100 
outpatient first attendances, or equivalent via other triage approaches, by March 2022 

o Patient-initiated follow-up (PIFU) is in place for at least five major outpatient 
specialties, moving or discharging 1.5% of all outpatient attendances to PIFU 
pathways by December 2021, and 2% by March 2022 with month-on-month increases 

o Continue to grow remote outpatient attendances where clinically appropriate with an 
overall share of at least 25% 

 Currently NCA are meeting the remote outpatient attendance target with a performance of 
28% against the 25% target.  They are working to increase the number of services that offer 
PIFU from two to the required five.  A&G performance is increasing and is approx. 4% of all 
first outpatient attendances.  

 Roll out of DrDoctor (an outpatient booking and patient interaction app) to automate clinic 
bookings and rescheduling and reminder systems. It communicates with patients online, by 
text or email to reduce the number of missed appointments and to make it easier and more 
convenient for patients to make and manage hospital bookings. 
 

9.       The Continuing Impact of COVID-19 

 
9.1 At the time of writing the main concern relating to the continuing impact of COVID-19 is the 

speed at which the Omicron variant is spreading in the UK.   

9.2 In response the Government has announced the COVID Vaccination and Booster 
Vaccination programme will be accelerated, and all adults offered a booster by end of 
December 2021. 

9.3 What is currently unknown is the effect this new variant will have on hospital admissions and 
staff absences at a time when Winter pressures are impacting on all parts of the health and 

Page 73

https://whileyouwait.org.uk/
https://whileyouwait.org.uk/


 

    

    
    
     

care system.  If increased hospital admissions overwhelm the NHS in the next few weeks 
this may result in another pause of non-urgent planned care and diagnostic services.   

9.4 Any significant increase in hospital admissions with or without a pause to non-urgent planned 
care and diagnostic services will have consequences to the ongoing work to recover these 
services and could result in longer waiting times.  

10. Recommendations 
 
10.1 Adult Commissioning Committee is asked to: 
 

 Note the Scheduled Care Update report  

 Note Salford CCGs performance against Scheduled Care national standards and COVID 
recovery plans 

 Provide any feedback or comments on the content of the report  
 
 
Annette Donegani 
Senior Service Improvement Manager 
Salford CCG 
 
16 December 2021 
 

 
 

Page 74



 

   
 

 

    
    
    
     

NAME OF MEETING: Adult Commissioning Committee 

DATE OF MEETING: 12 January 2022 
AGENDA ITEM 8: Cancer Update Report 
 
Item for: Decision/Assurance/Information (Please delete as appropriate) 
 

Report of: Leanne Windsor – Service Improvement Manager  
Salford CGG 
 
Neil Cudby – Assistant Director of Commissioning  
Salford CCG 
 

Date of Paper: 23rd December 2021 

In case of query, please contact: Leanne Windsor  
Leanne.windsor@nhs.net 

Strategic Priorities:  
(Please tick as appropriate) 

Quality, Safety, Innovation and Research √ 
Adult Services √ 

Children’s and Maternity Services  
All Age Mental Health  

Primary Care  
Enabling Transformation  

Mayoral Priorities: 
(Please tick as appropriate) 

Tackling poverty and inequality  
Reducing Health Inequalities √ 

Skills and Education (A Learning City)  

Affordable Housing  
Transport and Digital Connectivity  

Tackling the Climate Change Emergency  
Vibrant Place and Spaces  

Creating an Economy for All  
Purpose of Paper:                                    
 

This report provides an update and assurance on Cancer performance in relation to services 

commissioned by Salford CCG and Salford City Council. 

A range of data sources, including national and local performance & quality indicators together 

with ‘softer’ intelligence provided by CCG commiss ioners is used to: 

 Summarise performance in relation to cancer services against national targets, 

 Detail specific exceptions relating to contract performance compliance, including 

recommendations and/or agreed mitigating actions, as necessary, 

 Provide context in relation to the impact of performance compliance on specific cancer 

work streams / projects, including any impact on other programme areas, 

 

Adult Commissioning Committee is asked to note the update. 

Page 75

Agenda Item 8

mailto:Leanne.windsor@nhs.net
https://www.salford.gov.uk/cmpriorities


 

   
 

 

    
    
    
     

 

 
Further information 

How will this benefit the health and wellbeing of 
Salford residents, or the CCG or City Council? 

By presenting any areas of pressure / 
underperformance, appropriate actions can 
be identified and implemented to support 
improvements. 

How does this paper address health inequalities 
and promote inclusion? 

With all due regard to patient choice 

What risks may arise as a result of this paper 
and how will they be mitigated? 

N/A 

Does this address any existing high risks facing 
the organisation and how does it reduce them? 

N/A 

Are there any possible conflicts of interest 
associated with this paper? 

N/A 

Will any current services or roles be affected by 
issues within this paper and what are they? 

N/A 

Note: Where appropriate, please ensure detail is provided. 

 

Document Development 

Has there been Public Engagement? No 

Has there been Clinical Engagement? No 

Has the impact on Salford socially, economically 
and environmentally been considered? 

N/A 

Has there been an analysis of any impacts on 
equality? N/A 

Has legal advice been obtained? N/A 

Has this been to any groups or committees for 
engagement, comments, or approval?  No 

Note: Where relevant, please provide detail and ensure that it is clear how and when particular stakeholders were 
involved in this work, that there is clarity of what the key message/decision was, and whether amendments were 
requested about any part of the work.

Page 76



         

    

    
    
     

Cancer Update Report 
 

1. Executive Summary 
   

This paper provides an update on work programmes relating to Cancer Care.  It outlines the 
following: 

 Current performance against relevant NHS Constitutional Standards 

 Actions being taken to address underperformance 
 ‘other’ Cancer Service Updates 

 

Adult Commissioning Committee is asked to note the content of this report and comment as 
appropriate. 
 

 

2. CCG Cancer Performance Against National and Local Indicators  

2.1 Whilst cancer services have remained a priority area for the NHS during the pandemic, COVID-
19 has significantly impacted on cancer waiting time standards nationwide.  

2.2 There are eleven cancer waiting time (CWT) indicators with set performance targets which CCGs 
have a responsibility to deliver. The table below shows the CCGs performance against all CWT 
indicators as at October 2021 and highlights the following:  

 Current Published October 2021 activity: total number of referrals, total number of 
patients seen within standard and number of breaches 

 RAG rated current month performance, October 2021 performance, trend, and YTD 
(Year to Date) performance  

 
  October 2021    

Cancer Waiting Times (CWT) 
Indicator Description 

CWT 

Target 
Total 
Seen 

Seen in 
Target 

Breaches 
Perform- 

ance 
October 

19/20 
Trend YTD 

21/22 

Cancer Patients - 2 Week Waits 

(2WW) 
(Urgent GP Referral) 
% seen within two weeks of an urgent 
GP referral for suspected cancer 

93% 1018 801 217 78.7% 90.6% 
 

 

81.5% 

Cancer Patients - 2 Week Waits  

(Breast Symptoms) 
% seen within two weeks of an urgent 
referral for breast symptoms where 
cancer was not initially suspected 

93% 85 52 33 61.2% 31.6%  65.0% 

Cancer Waits - 28 Days  
(Faster Diagnosis Standard) 

% receiving a communication of 
diagnosis for cancer or a ruling out of 
cancer, or a decision to treat if made 

before communication of diagnosis 
within 28 days 

75% 1083 810 273 74.8% 67.0%  

 
 

73.0% 

Cancer Waits - 31 Days (All 
Cancers) 
% receiving first definitive treatment 

within one month (31-days) of a 
cancer diagnosis 

96% 

 
93 88 5 94.6% 95.4%  97.4% 

Cancer Waits - 31 Days (Surgery) 
% receiving subsequent treatment for 
cancer within 31-days where that 

treatment is surgery 

94% 12 11 1 91.7% 100%  

 
97.5% 

Cancer Waits - 31 Days (Drugs) 

% receiving subsequent treatment for 
cancer within 31-days, where that 
treatment is an Anti-Cancer Drug 

Regimen 

98% 13 13 0 100% 100%  100% 

Page 77



         

    

    
    
     

Cancer Waits - 31 Days 
(Radiotherapy) 
% receiving subsequent treatment for 

cancer within 31-days, where that 
treatment is a Radiotherapy 
Treatment Course 

94% 37 37 0 100% 100%  100% 

Cancer Waits - 62 Days  
(Urgent GP Referral) 

% receiving first definitive treatment 
for cancer within two months (62 
days) of an urgent GP referral for 

suspected cancer 

85% 40 29 11 72.5% 76.4%  78.1% 

Cancer Waits - 62 Days  

(Decision to Upgrade) 
% receiving first definitive treatment 
for cancer within 62-days of a 

consultant decision to upgrade their 
priority status 

85% 36 29 7 80.6% 79.4%  82.8% 

Cancer Waits - 62 Days  
(Screening Service) 
% receiving first definitive treatment 

for cancer within 62-days of referral 
from an NHS Cancer Screening 
Service 

90% 10 7 3 70.0% 100%  68.4% 

Cancer Waits >104 days (CCG) 
Salford CCG patients waiting 104 

days or more from referral to the first 
definitive treatment 

0   5 5 3  17 

 

3. Breach Analysis  

3.1 October 2021 performance shows two of the eleven measures met target, with a further three 
being marginally below target. Four out of the eleven targets are being achieved year to date. A 
breakdown of the CWT indicators that not meeting target for the year to date is detailed below. 

3.2 Cancer Patients - 2 Week Waits (Urgent GP Referral) 
 

This is an area of deteriorating performance, largely driven by a deterioration in performance against 
the skin 2 week wait pathway. Of the 217 breaches reported in October, 88 were in the skin cancer 
pathway and 59 were in the suspected breast cancer pathway. To meet the target for October, 146 
more patients would have been needed to be seen within 2 weeks.  
 
As can be seen in the graph below, 2 Week Wait (Urgent GP Referrals) have returned to pre-covid 
levels across Greater Manchester, in Salford referral levels are around 10% above pre-covid levels. 

 

Page 78



         

    

    
    
     

However, in October 2021, 2 week wait suspected skin cancer referrals were 36.1% more than pre-
pandemic levels and this has been a sustained increase in demand; it is this significant increase in 
demand which is the main challenge to provider performance at Salford Care Organisation (SCO) 

Of the 88 patients that waited over 14 days to be seen on the skin cancer pathway, the majority (69) 
were seen within in 21 days and a further 13 were seen within 28 days. All the 6 patients that waited 
28 days or more were recorded as ‘patient choice delay relating to first outpatient appointment’. 

Despite the increase in two week wait breaches for suspected skin cancer patients SCO is currently 
managing to treat the majority of GP referred skin cancer patients within the 62-day standard; there 
has been 5 breaches in 2021 for skin cancer treatment for Salford CCG attributable to SCO. 

3.3 Cancer Patients – 2 Week Waits (Breast Symptoms) 
 

A significant improvement in performance has been seen against the two week wait breast 
symptomatic referrals (where breast cancer is not initially suspected) measure since 2020; this 
improvement is being maintained although the target is still not being achieved.  
 
There were 33 breaches on this pathway in October 21; these were split across MFT (20) and BFT 
(13). To meet the target for October, 27 more patients would have been needed to be seen within 
two weeks. Of the 33 patients who waited longer than 14 days to be seen with 13 seen within in 21 
days and 16 were seen within 28 days. 4 patients had a wait of 28 days+. 
 
3.4 Cancer Waits - 28 days (Faster Diagnosis Standard) 

 

This is an area of improving performance with performance in October 2021 being just below the 
national target and showing a vast improvement on October 2020 performance. Most breaches 
(236/273) are at SCO and relate to the skin cancer pathway issues referred to above. To meet the 
target for October, 3 more patients would have been needed to receive a diagnosis within 28 days. 
SCO expects to achieve this standard in quarter 4 in line with H2 planning guidance. 
 
3.5 Cancer Waits - 62 days+ 

 

Performance remains stable against the three 62 day cancer treatment measures; however, the 
targets are not being achieved. To meet the target for the GP referral pathway in October 2021, 5 
more patients would have needed to be treated within 62 days. To meet the target for the upgrade 
pathway in October 2021, 2 more patients would have needed to be treated within 62 days. To meet 
the target for the screening pathway in October 2021, 2 more patients would have needed to be 
treated within 62 days. 

The ‘live’ 62 day wait patient tracking list data as at the 23rd December 2021 shows that there are 96 
Salford patients waiting 62 days or more for their cancer treatment. The majority of these (43) are 
patients waiting on colorectal/gastrointestinal pathways. 

3.8 Cancer Waits – 104 day+  
 

The table below shows the number of Salford CCG patients referred by a GP on the two week 
pathway, treated for cancer each month, that had waited over 104 days for treatment at any provider.  

Apr

20 

May

20 

Jun

20 

Jul

20 

Aug

20 

Sep

20 

Oct

20 

Nov

20 

Dec

20 

Jan

21 

Feb

21 

Mar

21 

Apr

21 

May

21 

Jun

21 

Jul 

21 

Aug 

21 

Sep 

21 

Oct

21 

6 8 1 6 8 3 9 3 9 1 3 5 2 2 1 2 3 4 5 

Page 79



         

    

    
    
     

 
The 5 breaches reported as treated in October are spread across a number of tumour groups: 2 
Lower Gastroenterology, 1 Haematological, 1 Head & Neck, 1 Skin. The first treatment providers 
were a mixture of SCO (3), MFT (1) and The Christie (1) 
 
The ‘live’ 104 day wait patient tracking list data as at the 23rd December 2021 shows that there are 

12 Salford patients waiting 104 days or more for their cancer treatment.  

 

Progress has been made in reducing the number of patients waiting over 104 days for cancer 
treatment; this remains a key priority area and providers are committed to maintaining and improving 

this further in line with H2 planning guidance. 

 
 

4. Breach Analysis by Provider Trust 
 

 
4.1 Salford CCG patients receive cancer treatment at a range of Providers. The table below shows 

the six October 2021 CCG national CWT measure breaches referred to above broken down by 

hospital provider.  
 

 

Indicator Target 

CCG 
Performance 

Breaches by Provider Trust 

Oct 
21 

YTD MFT BFT SCO Christie 

2WW – Urgent GP Referrals 93% 78.7% 81.5% 53 7 157 
 

2WW – Breast Symptoms 93% 61.2% 65.0% 20 13  
 

Cancer Waits – 28 Days Faster 
Diagnosis Standard 96% 94.6% 97.4% 19 17 237  

62 Day Waits – Urgent GP Referral 
(First treatment provider) 85% 72.5% 78.1% 2  8.5 0.5 

62 Day Waits – Decision to Upgrade 
(First treatment provider) 

85% 80.6% 82.8% 2  4 1 

62 Day Waits – Follow ing Screening 90% 70.0% 68.4%   2 1 

Cancer Waits >104 Days 0 5 17 1  3 1 

 
 
4.2 The majority of breaches across these standards are at Salford Care Organisation (skin pathway) 
and Manchester Foundation Trust (breast pathway) 
 
4.3 Provider trusts report that all cancer referrals are triaged and the most clinically urgent prioritised 
for assessment and treatment, meaning that those assessed as less urgent are waiting longer.  
Cancer waiting times recovery plans are in place and are continually reviewed and updated. 
 
 
 
 

Page 80



         

    

    
    
     

5. Benchmarking 
 
5.1 Cancer waiting time performance remains a challenge both locally and nationally. The following 
indicates Salford’s CCG GM ranking for performance against those cancer wait time standards not 
achieving target in October 2021 as well as illustrating the performance position across GM. 
 

2WW Urgent GP Referral – 6th (of 10)   2WW Breast Symptoms – 5th (of 10) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
28 day FDS – 3rd (of 10)    62 Day (Urgent GP Referral) – 4th (of 10) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
    

 
 
 
 
 
 
62 day (Decision to Upgrade) – 4th (of 10)  62 day (Screening) – 8th of 10)  

 
 
 
    

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 81



         

    

    
    
     

5.2 The table below shows the ‘live’ Patient Tracking List data by CCG as at the 23rd December 2021; 
this is the number of patients currently waiting 62days+ and 104days+ (all referral sources) for cancer 
treatment by CCG. The number of patients waiting 62 days+ is inclusive of those waiting 104 days+. 
 

Commissioner Patients Waiting 
62 days+ 

Patients Waiting 
104 days+ 

Bolton CCG 61 12 
Bury CCG 106 32 

HMR CCG 105 24 
Manchester CCG 310 76 

Oldham CCG 121 31 
Salford CCG 96 12 

Stockport CCG 174 23 

Tameside & Glossop CCG 156 24 
Trafford CCG 138 34 

 
5.3 Providers continue to prioritise reducing the number of cancer long waiters in line with H2 planning 
guidance; the Salford locality currently benchmarks well in this area with numbers of long waiters 
being comparatively low. 
 

6. Actions Taken to Recover Performance  
 
6.1 Listed below are a selection of system actions being taken to recover cancer performance: 
 

 Improvement plans are in place for all underperforming tumour groups and these are reviewed 
and monitored through the Northern Care Alliance Cancer Improvement Committee 

 

 Providers continue to focus on prioritising cancer service delivery and have systems in place 
to micro-manage long waiting times and reduce backlogs 

 
 Deep dive analysis of pathways with highest breaches taking place with provider trusts 

working in collaboration with CCG and GM Cancer Alliance 
 

 Implementation of the Skin Cancer teledermatology pathway pilot in Salford 
 

 The Rapid Diagnostic Centre (RDC) has commenced triaging Lower Gastroenterology 
referrals to help manage demand in this tumour group pathway 

 

 The RDC has also been established as the first point of referral for Galleri Trial patients with 
a positive blood signal to enable a smooth transition for patients into cancer services 

 

 Action plans as a result of a lower GI improvement week are being implemented, focussing 
on streamlining booking and triage processes; robust patient tracking, management, and 
listing processes; and increasing dedicated capacity to engineer a step change in waiting 
times 

 GM Hospital Trusts providing breast services continue to engage in a collective approach to 
recover breast symptomatic and breast cancer performance.  The main actions being 
undertaken to address performance are prioritisation of assessment of suspected breast 
cancer above other breast symptoms, a commitment to maintaining best practice of ‘One 
Stop’ assessment and diagnosis, additional radiologist recruitment, waiting list initiatives, 

Page 82



         

    

    
    
     

workforce planning and sourcing additional surgical capacity. The GM breast cancer position 
has also been identified for regional and national support. 

 

7. Other Cancer Service Updates 

7.1 A number of initiatives have been implemented to improve the patient outcomes for cancer 
services. Updates on these are below. 

 
7.2 Lung Health Check Programme 
 

The Salford Lung Health Check Service has now been mobilised across three of the five 
Neighbourhoods in Salford. As part of this programme letters are being sent to everyone registered 
with a Salford GP aged between 55 to 74 years who has been identified as a current smoker or ex-
smoker inviting them to attend for a lung health check.  
 
Up to the end of August 2021, 12,417 people had been invited and 6659 (54%) had accepted. Out 
of those that attended 2778 have had a 1st scan completed and 45 patients have been diagnosed 
with lung cancer, and 11 patients have been diagnosed with other cancers. Positively the majority of 
those diagnosed have been diagnosed in the early stages increasing the chances of successful 
treatment. 62% were diagnosed at stage 1, 18% stage 2, 16% at stage 3 and 4% at stage 4. 
 
The programme also identifies a number of incidental findings that can then be managed in primary 
care; these patients would not have otherwise been diagnosed and are now being actively managed. 
 
 
7.3 Skin - Teledermatology Pilot 
 

A three-month SCO pilot to better manage the pathway for skin cancer referrals, initially for Salford 
GP referrals, commenced in mid-October. The pilot aims to streamline the referral process for 
patients with suspected skin cancer, by using teledermatology to triage lesions and direct referrals to 
the most appropriate setting, avoiding unnecessary hospital visits for benign lesions. Salford Care 
Organisation report teething problems with the teledermatology pathway; a number of referrals are 
being sent with poor quality images or no images at all.  The CCG continues to work with GM Cancer 
Alliance and the provider trust with sending communications GP’s regarding the pilot and supporting 
education available. 
 
 
7.4 NHS-Galleri Trial 
 

Greater Manchester Cancer Alliance is supporting recruitment to the NHS-Galleri trial, which aims to 
evaluate a new test which uses a single blood sample to test for over 50 types of cancer.  Invitations 
will be sent to around 20,000 members of the public in GM, providing they are aged 50-77 with no 
history of cancer within the last 3 years. Participants whose results indicate a cancer signal will be 
referred directly by the Trial team to an appropriate local suspected cancer referral pathway; the trial 
has been designed to minimise the impact on GP practices. The Salford Locality was the second 
locality to go live in Greater Manchester becoming operational on the 5th November 2021 and offering 
appointment slots in Salford to those invited through November and December. 
 
 

Page 83



         

    

    
    
     

7.5 Cancer Rapid Diagnostic Centre (RDC) 

 
The Cancer Rapid Diagnostic Centre (RDC) has been live pathway since June 2020.  Patients who 
have non-site-specific symptoms (NSS) are referred to the RDC, either by their GP or triaged from 
other two-week pathways into the RDC.  The RDC have extended tumour site specific pathways to 
include referrals for Lung, Haematology, Upper Gastroenterology, Lower Gastroenterology and 
Gynaecology.  Of note, the RDC is the referral point for Galleri Trial patients identified with a positive 
blood signal.   

The RDC team carry out the diagnostics testing to either exclude cancer or refer the patient to the 
correct specialist team for further investigations/biopsy and onto treatment. The RDC is delivered 
from two sites: two days at Salford Royal Hospital and two days at Rochdale Infirmary. Since its’ 
launch, to date, the RDC has seen 2071 referrals with an average 6 day to first appointment (this 
included clinical triage and nurse led conversations with patients) and has diagnosed 98 cancers with 
an overall cancer conversion rate of 5.2%. The volume of patients being seen is high compared to 
other RDC’s nationally and feedback from patients on their experience is very positive. 

 
 
7.6 Prehab4Cancer 
 

The Prehab4Cancer programme is a work stream of GM Cancer and started as a two-year 
transformation project, using GM Cancer Transformation Funding, launching in April 2019. The 
service aims to provide patients with the best opportunity for excellent quality outcomes and long-
term survival and is provided by GM Active, a collective of 12 leisure and community organisations 
in GM. Prehab4Cancer is offered to newly diagnosed cancer patients who will be undergoing either 
colorectal, lung or oesophago-gastric surgery. Since August 2020 eligibility criteria also included any 
patient with lung cancer being offered curative intent oncological treatments. The service provides 
support to patients with physical exercise, nutritional screening and advice, and emotional wellbeing 
support both before, during and after cancer treatment.  
 
A detailed evaluation of this service has now been completed which demonstrates that it is benefitting 
patients, providers, and systems in the following ways: 

 Patients are optimised prior to surgery and have long-lasting health benefits following post-
operative rehabilitation. This reduces demands on healthcare services throughout the cancer 
pathway. 

 Quality of life and physical activity improvements indicate long-term behaviour change and 
health improvement, with patients taking control of their care 

 Improvements are seen in both ward and critical care bed day usage resulting in improved 
elective care capacity and effective use of resources. Additional positive impacts on 30 and 
90-day readmission and emergency department admissions have been observed. 

 Efficiency improvements to pathways are visible which support delivery of elective care and 
cancer recovery plans, and achievement of cancer performance standards’  

 Evidence supports improved survival in patients who complete Prehab4Cancer 

 Taking a value-based healthcare approach, the Prehab4Cancer programme provides better 
patient outcomes and efficient use of resources.  

 
Each GM locality has been asked to review the evaluation and confirm their position with regards to 
the future funding of this service. Salford CCG has reviewed and noted the positive evaluation 
through the Service & Finance Group and confirmed its intention to GM Cancer to continue funding 
this service based on the positive impact and outcomes the service delivers. 
 

Page 84



         

    

    
    
     

 

8. Potential impact of the Omicron variant – Cancer Assurance 
 
8.1 At the time of writing the main concern relating to the continuing impact of COVID-19 is the speed 
at which the Omicron variant is spreading in the UK.  The UK chief medical officers on 12th December 
2021 increased their assessment of the COVID-19 threat level to 4. What is currently unknown is the 
effect this new variant will have on hospital admissions and staff absences at a time when winter 
pressures are impacting on all parts of the health and care system.    
 
8.2 Maintaining delivery of cancer services will remain a priority as it has done in previous waves. 
Salford CCG continues to work with local system partners and GM Cancer to make sure that the 
elements that helped to sustain cancer services in previous waves are in place, and to ensure that:  

 rapid access, including tests and checks for patients with suspected cancer, as well as 
screening services, are maintained  

 provision for P1 and P2 cancer surgery is prioritised  

 cancer surgical hubs have been established with cancer surgery consolidated on COVID-19-
protected sites, and that centralised triage is in place across local systems to prioritise patients 
based on clinical need  

 arrangements are in place to centralise high volume or high complexity work such as upper 
GI or head and neck surgery  

 local systems have adapted cancer pathways in line with the advice on streamlining cancer 
diagnostic pathways and keeping them COVID-19-protected  

 local systems are maximising the use they make of IS capacity for cancer services, where 
clinically appropriate  

 effective communications with patients and safety netting is in place, and patients are involved 
in decisions around their care, including when they chose to reschedule  

 anyone with concerning symptoms is encouraged to come forward, in line with ‘Help us, Help 
You’ messaging.   

 
 

9. Recommendations 
 
9.1 The Adult Commissioning Committee is asked to note the contents of this paper and comment 

as appropriate. 
 
 
Leanne Windsor 
Service Improvement Manager 
Salford CCG 

 
Neil Cudby 
Assistant Director of Commissioning 
Salford CCG 

Page 85



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 87

Agenda Item 10
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 101

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 135

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 151

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 161

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Draft Minutes of the Meeting Held on 10th November 2021
	4 Transformation Business Cases - Karen Proctor / Dr Tara Kearney
	04 - Community and Integrated Care Investment Cases

	5 Learning Disability Strategy - Judd Skelton / Lyndsey Daly
	Salford Adult Social Care Learning Disability Strategy  - Strategy

	6 Finance Report - Elaine Vermeulen
	7 Scheduled Care Update - Annette Donegani
	8 Cancer Care Update - Neil Cudby
	10 Living Well Business Case - Judd Skelton
	10 - Living Well Business Case v14 FINAL JANUARY 2022
	10 - Living Well Phase 3 Business Case Appendicies v0.8
	10 - EIA  CIA Living Well
	10 - Living Well Salford Governance Presentationv2


